Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

9-25-2012 12:00 AM

Staphylococcus aureus response to long chain antimicrobial fatty acids

Benjamin Arsic, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Martin McGavin, *The University of Western Ontario* Joint Supervisor: David Heinrichs, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Microbiology and Immunology © Benjamin Arsic 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Bacteriology Commons, and the Pathogenic Microbiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Arsic, Benjamin, "Staphylococcus aureus response to long chain antimicrobial fatty acids" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 923. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/923

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.



STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS RESPONSE TO LONG CHAIN ANTIMICROBIAL FATTY ACIDS

(Spine title: S. aureus response to fatty acids)

(Thesis format: Integrated article)

By

Benjamin Arsic

Graduate Program in Microbiology and Immunology

a thesis submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada

© Benjamin Arsic 2012

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies



THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Supervisors

Dr. Martin McGavin

Dr. David Heinrichs

Advisory Committee

Dr. Gregor Reid

Dr. Susan Koval

Dr. Bryan Neff

Dr. John McCormick

Dr. Miguel Valvano

The thesis by

Benjamin Arsic

entitled:

Staphylococcus aureus response to long chain antimicrobial fatty acids

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date_____

Chair of the thesis examination board



Examiners

ABSTRACT

Staphylococcus aureus is a common pathogen that has the ability to infect virtually every tissue and organ system of the body. Despite its propensity to cause invasive infection, S. aureus is also a commensal organism, asymptomatically colonizing \sim 25% of the population. Much research has gone into resolving this paradox, focusing on both human and bacterial factors that may contribute to colonization. Antimicrobial fatty acids present on the skin and in the nasal mucosa are important components of the innate immune system, and thus we undertook to further understand how S. aureus responds to these fatty acids, and how this response facilitates survival during colonization, or promotes the transition from colonization to infection. Using physiological concentrations of several different fatty acids present on the skin and in the nasal mucosa, we assessed the response of community acquired methicillin resistant S. aureus (CA-MRSA) to long chain fatty acids. 25µM of several unsaturated fatty acids including linoleic (C18:2), palmitoleic (C16:1), sapienic (C16:1), and linolenic (C18:3) added to the culture media was not growth inhibitory, yet caused a marked increase in the expression of the secreted proteases comprising the *Staphylococcal* proteolytic cascade (SPC). The increase in the expression of proteases was associated with the processing of the lipase glycerol ester hydrolase (Geh) into its mature form. This was not observed in a protease null mutant.

Growth in the presence of 50μ M linoleic acid caused a ~12h lag phase, after which the bacteria resumed a normal growth rate. Cells recovered after growth in 50μ M linoleic acid displayed permanent resistance to the same concentration of linoleic acid during subsequent growths, and these resistant strains each had single nucleotide



iii

polymorphisms (SNP) present in their genomes, most commonly targeting the ribonuclease *cvfA*.

Keywords: Fatty acids, protease, *Staphylococcus aureus*, pathogenesis, virulence, community acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, lipase, glycerol ester hydrolase



COAUTHORSHIP

CHAPTER 2:

Induction of the Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade by unsaturated fatty acids in community-acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* Benjamin Arsic, Yue Zhu, David E. Heinrichs, and Martin J. McGavin Western University, Department of Microbiology and Immunology and Centre for Human Immunology, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, London Ontario, Canada N6A 5C1

This work has been published in PLoS ONE.

Yue Zhu contributed to this work with the construction of protease deficient mutants in strain Newman.

Dr. Martin McGavin and Dr. David Heinrichs contributed to the conceptualization of the research, and the writing and editing of this chapter.

CHAPTER 3:

Insights into the molecular events leading to the adaptation of *Staphylococcus aureus* to unsaturated fatty acids

Yue Zhu contributed to this work with the construction of protease deficient mutants.

Dr. Martin McGavin and Dr. David Heinrichs contributed to the conceptualization of the

research, and the writing and editing of this chapter.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is impossible to overstate my gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Martin McGavin and Dr. David Heinrichs, whose patience, guidance and support have been invaluable to me over the past two years. One simply could not ask for better supervisors.

I would also like to thank the other members of my advisory committee, Dr. John McCormick and Dr. Miguel Valvano. Their guidance and encouragement have been instrumental in the progression of my Master's degree.

Lastly, I would like to thank all of the members of the McGavin lab who have helped me throughout the course of this research. Specifically, this work would not have been possible without the leadership and assistance of Dr. Daniel Passos, Yue Zhu, and William Ngai.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION
ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
TABLE OF CONTENTSvii
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxii
LIST OF UNITSxiv
CHAPTER 1 - LITERATURE REVIEW
1.1 Clinical relevance of <i>S. aureus</i> 1
1.2 Description of <i>S. aureus</i> 2
1.3 S. aureus genome2
1.4 <i>S. aureus</i> paradigm of infection
1.5 Attachment and adhesion factors4
1.6 Tissue invasion and metastatic infection
1.7 Immune evasion7
1.8 Regulation of virulence factors
1.9 Antibiotic resistance10
1.10 CA-MRSA and USA30012
1.11 Staphylococcal proteolytic cascade13
1.12 Glycerol Ester Hydrolase and role of lipases in virulence15
1.13 Resistance to antimicrobial fatty acids15
REFERENCES
HYPOTHESIS and OBJECTIVES
CHAPTER 2 - Induction of the Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade by unsaturated fatty acids in community-acquired methicillin resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>
2.1 INTRODUCTION
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.2.1 Strains and growth conditions
2.2.2 Generation of plasmid cured USA300



2.2.3 Construction of USA300Δ <i>sspABC</i>		
2.2.4 Molecular biology protocols	34	
2.2.5 TCA precipitation of proteins, SDS-PAGE, Western blotting ar	nd	
mass spectrometry	35	
2.2.6 Influence of fatty acids on growth of <i>S. aureus</i>		
2.2.7 Protease and β-galactosidase assays		
2.3 RESULTS		
2.3.1 Influence of fatty acids on growth of <i>S. aureus</i> USA300		
2.3.2 Expression of secreted proteins is altered by unsaturated fatty		
Acids	41	
2.3.3 The Staphylococcal proteolytic cascade (SPC) is induced by		
uFFA	43	
2.3.4 Response to linoleic acid is characteristic clinical isolates	48	
2.4 DISCUSSION	51	
2.5 REFERENCES	58	
CHAPTER 3 - Insights into the molecular events leading to the adaptati Staphylococcus aureus to unsaturated fatty acids	on of	
3.1 INTRODUCTION	67	
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	69	
3.2.1 Bacterial strains and growth conditions	69	
3.2.2 Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> in fatty acids	70	
3.2.3 Linoleic acid adaptation and genome sequencing	70	
3.2.4 TCA precipitation of proteins, SDS-PAGE, Western blotting		
and mass spectrometry	71	
3.2.5 Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry sample preparation	n72	
3.3 RESULTS	73	
3.3.1 Metalloprotease aureolysin processes the Glycerol Ester		
Hydrolase in response to growth in linoleic acid	73	
3.3.2 USA300 adapts to growth in linoleic acid	75	
3.3.3 Linoleic acid adapted cells contain SNPs in common genes	77	



3.3.4 Fate of linoleic acid in culture media	79
3.4 DISCUSSION	
3.5 REFERENCES	
CHAPTER 4 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE	
DIRECTIONS	
APPENDIX	91
CURRICULUM VITAE	93



LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 S. aureus strains and plasmids used in this study	.32
Table 3.1 S. aureus strains used in this study	.69
Table 3.2 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in linoleic	
acid adapted strains of USA300	78



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1:	Influence of fatty acids on growth of USA3004	0
Figure 2.2:	Influence of fatty acids on the protein production of <i>S. aureus</i>	-2
Figure 2.3:	Growth in fatty acids results in increased production of the proteases of the SPC4	.5
Figure 2.4:	Expression of aureolysin is induced at the transcriptional level	17
Figure 2.5:	Response of different strains of <i>S. aureus</i> to linoleic acid5	0
Figure 3.1:	Aureolysin is required for lipase processing7	′4
Figure 3.2:	USA300 adapts to growth in linoleic acid	76
Figure 3.3:	Fate of linoleic acid in culture media8	30



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Agr	Accessory gene regulator
AIP	Autoinducing peptide
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
Aur	Aureolysin
BHI	Brain heart infusion medium
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CA-MRSA	Community-acquired methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
CBP	Collagen binding protein
CC	Clonal complex
Cfu	Colony forming units
CHIPS	Chemotaxis inhibiting protein of Staphylococcus aureus
Clf	Clumping factor
Coa	Coagulase
СР	Capsular polysaccharide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Erm	Erythromycin
Fn	Fibronectin
FnBp	Fibrinogen-binding protein
Geh	Glycerol ester hydrolase
HA-MRSA	Hospital-acquired methicillin resistant Staphylococcus
	aureus
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Kan	Kanamycin
LA	Linoleic Acid
LB	Luria Bertani growth medium
MGE	Mobile genetic element



mRNA	Messenger RNA
MRSA	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
MSSA	Methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus
MSCRAAMs	Microbial surface components recognizing adhesive
	matrix molecules
Neo	Neomycin
O.D.	Optical density
PBP	Penicillin-binding protein
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PVL	Panton-Valentine leukotoxin
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPM	Revolutions per minute
SAK	Staphylokinase
Sar	Staphylococcal accessory regulator
SCC	Staphylococcal cassette chromosome
SCIN	Staphylococcal complement inhibitor
Scp	Staphylococcal cysteine protease
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
SigB	Sigma factor B (σ B)
Spa	Staphylococcal protein A
SPC	Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade
Ssp	Staphylococcal serine protease
SSTI	Skin and soft tissue infection
ST	Sequence Type
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TSB	Tryptic soy broth
TSST	Toxic shock syndrome soxin
uFFA	Unsaturated free fatty acid



xiii

LIST OF UNITS

- Da Dalton
- μg microgram
- mM millimolar
- °C Degrees celsius
- mg milligram
- ng nanogram
- F-Farad
- μL microlitre
- nM-nanomole
- g gram
- mL millilitre
- $\Omega-ohm$
- h hour
- $\min \min$
- V Volt



CHAPTER 1 – Literature Review

1.1 Clinical relevance of Staphylococcus aureus

The notoriety of *Staphylococcus aureus* as a pathogen began with its discovery in 1880 by Scottish surgeon Alexander Ogston, as the causative agent of post-operative suppurative infections (1). Although the advent of antibiotics has reduced the mortality rate since that time, particularly the serendipitous discovery of penicillin by Alexander Fleming in 1928, *S. aureus* is now the worldwide leading cause of skin and soft tissue infections (SSTI). In addition to SSTIs, *S. aureus* is capable of infecting virtually every tissue in the body, and is also the leading cause of infectious mortality in North America (2, 3). While the prognosis of a *S. aureus* infection is usually optimistic, the incidence of infection is so high that the overall number of fatalities per year from *S. aureus* is greater than that of HIV in North America. Furthermore, in non-fatal incidences, treatment of a *S. aureus* infection can be difficult, necessitating an extended stay in hospital, and thus causing a severe burden on the health care system (2).

The prevalence of *S. aureus* infection is in large part due to its ability to survive at the host pathogen interface. Approximately 25% of the population are persistent carriers of *S. aureus*, while up to 60% are transient carriers, predominantly in the anterior nares, but may also be colonized on the warm and moist areas of the skin, primarily the axillae and perineum (4, 5). Importantly, patients with nosocomial *S. aureus* infections are often infected by the same strain that has colonized the skin or anterior nares (6)

1.2 Description of S. aureus



Staphylococci are Gram positive, spherical, and non-motile bacteria that are $\sim 1 \mu m$ in diameter. They are distinguishable from other micrococci based on their propensity to form "grape-like" clusters. Ogston observed the micrococci while examining the pus of post-operatively infected patients, and appropriately termed the organism "Staphylococcus", from the Greek term "Staphyle", meaning "bunches of grapes". The species Staphylococcus "aureus" was further defined by German surgeon Anton Rosenbach in 1884 after he observed the yellow pigmentation of the bacteria due to the pigment molecule staphyloxanthin(7). S. aureus can also be distinguished from other staphylococci in simple laboratory tests via the detection of its production of coagulase, a protein which mediates the conversion of fibrinogen to fibrin through its interaction with prothrombin, and clumping factor, a cell surface protein that causes agglutination of the blood by direct binding of fibrinogen (8, 9).

1.3 S. aureus genome

S. aureus has a 60-70% mol A+T chromosome of 2.87 Mbp (10). Approximately 75% of the genome is composed of 'core' chromosome, and the additional 25% consists of more variable mobile genetic elements such as prophages, insertion sequences, pathogenicity islands and plasmids (11, 12) . In general, the core genome consists of housekeeping genes, and virulence factors that are common to most strains of *S. aureus*, which include the lipase Glycerol Ester Hydrolase (Geh), proteases aureolysin, SspA, and staphopains A and B, alpha-hemolysin, and coagulase. Much of the genetic variability between strains is derived from the accessory genome, existing in the form of mobile genetic elements. Further genetic variability comes from DNA loss and mutation to existing genes. Evolution through MGE's, DNA loss, and mutation to core chromosomal



2

genes has been crucial to the success of *S. aureus* as a pathogen, providing the bacteria novel virulence factors, antibiotic resistance genes, and tailoring some strains to become adept at survival in particular host niches (13). For example, methicillin resistant strains of *S. aureus* have acquired β - lactam resistance on the MGE known as the staphylococcal Cassette Chromosome SCCmec acquired via horizontal gene transfer from a coagulasenegative *Staphylococcus* species (14, 15), and several superantigen genes are encoded on prophage genes and pathogenicity islands (11, 16, 17). Niche adaptation in some strains may have occurred due to DNA loss, and accumulation of pseudogenes that allow for host colonization at the expense of virulence (18)

1.4 S. aureus paradigm of infection

A hypothetical infection by *S. aureus* may be divided into three stages; i) colonization/attachment ii) tissue invasion/abscess formation and iii) metastatic infection. In addition to these, the bacteria are also faced with the burden of immune evasion across all three stages. Staphylococcal pathogenesis is multifactorial, and the ability of *S. aureus* to infect virtually every tissue of the body is mediated by its large endowment of virulence factors. Virulence factors come in the form of secreted proteins, membrane bound proteins, and cell surface components.

First, colonization of the skin and anterior nares by *S. aureus* is a common precursor to infection, as demonstrated by the finding that patients with invasive infections are usually colonized by the same strain isolated from the site of infection (19, 20). Furthermore, colonized individuals are four times more likely to suffer from infection. Infection follows colonization through a breach in the host-pathogen interface,



and attachment of the bacteria to host tissue or extracellular matrix through cell wall associated adhesion proteins, which include members of the microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMM) family, which will be discussed in further detail in the next section. Examples of a breach in the host pathogen interface leading to infection include the inoculation of an open wound on the skin with colonizing bacteria, or an influenza-mediated damage in the mucosa of the respiratory tract, followed by infection with *S. aureus* resulting in pneumonia.

Tissue invasion and abscess formation is mediated by a range of secreted and cell surface factors that degrade host tissues (e.g. proteases), and seize nutrients via the breakdown of host factors (hemolysins, proteases, lipases). The formation of an abscess results from incoming neutrophils encapsulating the bacteria. Metastatic infection is a result of the escape of the bacteria from abscesses, through mechanisms which are not completely understood, but likely involves production of several secreted virulence factors, which include but are not limited to proteases, nuclease, lipase, leukotoxins, and small cytotoxins of the phenol soluble modulin family. This may result in septicemia and infection in almost any other tissue of the body. Throughout the course of infection, *S. aureus* may also secrete toxins that travel systemically resulting in toxinosis in the absence of metastatic infection, a classic example being toxic shock syndrome, caused by toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1) (21, 22).

1.5 Attachment and adhesion factors

Attachment to host tissue components is a necessary step to *S. aureus* infection, and is mediated through cell wall associated virulence factors, in particular the microbial



surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMMs) (23, 24), fibronectin binding protein (FnBP), collagen binding protein (CBP), clumping factor (Clf) and extracellular fibrinogen binding protein. MSCRAMMs are anchored to the peptidoglycan by the enzyme Sortase A, which recognizes the LPXTG amino acid sequence near the C-terminus of peptidoglycan-bound proteins. Sortase A cleaves at the C-terminal end of the threonine residue, and catalyzes the formation of an amide bond between the threonine and an amino group on the peptidoglycan (24, 25). The vast majority of peptidoglycan anchored proteins in *S. aureus* utilize sortase A and the LPXTG signal sequence, however *S. aureus* also maintains a second sortase enzyme, sortase B, which recognizes and anchors proteins with the signal sequence NPQTN. The only protein known to be anchored via this enzyme is the Iron-regulated Surface Determinant C (IsdC) protein (26)

As its name suggests, FnBP binds to fibronectin, a glycoprotein of the extracellular matrix that is typically bound to integrins, but may also be associated with collagen and fibrin. Clumping factor associated with the cell wall, and the secreted extracellular fibrinogen binding protein both directly bind fibrinogen and cause agglutination. Attachment and agglutination may also cause emboli, and diseases such as infective endocarditis, where *S. aureus* attaches and accumulates on cardiac valves resulting in inflammation of the cardiac tissue.

Attachment and agglutination allow for the assembly of high numbers of bacteria, which, as discussed later, is necessary for the expression of virulence factors responsible for the transition to invasive infection.



1.6 Tissue Invasion and metastatic infection

Tissue invasion and dissemination begins with the enzymatic breakdown and decrease in expression of the MSCRAMMs involved in attachment and adhesion, typically mediated by extracellular proteases (27, 28). Host tissues are broken down by extracellular enzymes such as lipases, proteases, hemolysins, phospholipases, hyaluronidase, and nucleases. In addition to tissue invasion, these toxins also provide nutrients to the bacteria through the breakdown of host proteins, lipids and red blood cells. Abscess formation in host tissues follows, and the escape from abscesses further promotes metastatic infection and sepsis (29).

Alpha-toxin, which is considered to be the major lethal toxin of *S. aureus*, exerts its cytolytic pore forming activity on red blood cells, oligomerizing to form a β -barrel in the cytoplasmic membrane, thus lysing the cell and releasing heme to be scavenged by the bacteria (30-32). Studies have suggested that alpha toxin may be a candidate vaccine antigen, as the virulence of some of the most prevalent and virulent strains of *S. aureus* lacking the gene for *hla* was attenuated in a murine infection model, and immunization of mice against alpha-toxin reduced the severity of disease in a skin wound infection model (33). Other hemolysins encoded on the core genome of *S. aureus* include beta-toxin, gamma hemolysin, and delta toxin.

Leukocidins are also cytolytic pore forming toxins that cause lysis of neutrophils. These toxins typically consist of two components, S and F, which assemble in the membrane of white blood cells, forming a pore and leading to cell lysis (34). The



significance of leukotoxins will be discussed further in the section on Community Acquired Methicillin Resistant *S. aureus* (CA-MRSA).

The expression of proteases and their role in *S. aureus* virulence will be discussed in further detail in a following section.

1.7 Immune Evasion

Both secreted and cell surface virulence factors are employed by S. aureus to evade the innate and adaptive immune systems. Examples of membrane associated immune evasion factors include carotenoid pigment, which resists extracellular reactive oxygen species produced in the oxidative burst of neutrophils (35). Hydrogen peroxide is also detoxified by the enzyme catalase, which converts H_2O_2 to H_2O and O_2 . Staphylococcal protein A (Spa) can be either membrane bound or secreted, and sequesters the Fc region of IgG antibodies, thereby preventing their opsonic binding to the cell surface (36, 37). The 5 and 8 serotype capsular polysaccharide produced by S. aureus acts as a cloak to hide the bacterial antigens from the innate and adaptive immune systems, and clumping factor may also function in this capacity through the accumulation of fibrinogen at the cell surface (38-41). Antimicrobial peptides of the innate immune system can be sensed by the antimicrobial peptide sensor (aps), causing an increase in the positive charge of the cell membrane via D-alanylation and lysine modification, thus repelling the positively charged AMP (42). AMPs may also be degraded by extracellular proteases. Interference with the complement system is mediated through three proteins, Staphylokinase (SAK), chemotaxis inhibiting protein of Staphylococcus aureus (CHIPS), and staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN) (43-45). SAK can be either secreted or



cell membrane associated, and it converts the plasma protein plasminogen into the active form, plasmin (46) . Plasmin is an important human plasma enzyme that degrades other plasma proteins, most notably fibrin clots. However, plasmin may also degrade antibodies and AMPs, thus protecting the bacteria. CHIPS is a secreted protein that inhibits neutrophil chemotaxis by binding the C5a complement receptor and the N-formlyated peptide receptor located on the neutrophil cell surface. Both receptors, which are critical to attract neutrophils, are negated by CHIPS interference (47-49) . SCIN is also a secreted protein that interferes with the C3 convertase complex that forms on the cell surface of the bacteria.

More recently, small secreted molecules known as phenol soluble modulins (PSMs) have been the subject of debate regarding staphylococcal pathogenesis. PSMs are small peptides that polymerize to create pores in the cytoplasmic membranes of neutrophils, causing lysis(50, 51).

A more detailed discussion on proposed mechanisms of resistance to antimicrobial fatty acids follows in a later section.

1.8 Regulation of virulence factors

The expression of virulence factors during the attachment and invasive infection stages of staphylococcal pathogenesis is vastly different, and the shift from colonization/attachment to invasive infection is governed by the regulation of these virulence factors. Regulation is umpired by a complex network of two component systems, sigma factors, and other transcription factors that respond to environmental and cellular signals.



The most established and well-studied of these systems is the Accessory Gene Regulator (Agr) two-component system, of which the main function is triggering the positive expression of virulence factors contributing to invasive infection (52). The Agr system is activated upon sufficiently high bacterial cell density using quorum sensing (53). Briefly, the *agr* locus contains four genes, directed by two promoters, P2 and P3. Transcription of *agrBDCA* is controlled by promoter P2, while P3 controls transcription of RNAIII, which is the effector molecule for downstream gene regulation (54). Autoinducing peptide AgrD is processed, modified and secreted by the transmembrane protein AgrB (55, 56), and at sufficiently high cell density, the concentration of AgrD in the local environment also becomes sufficient to stimulate the sensor protein AgrC. AgrC in turn phosphorylates AgrA, which is then able to bind and activate P2 and P3 (57). Activated P3 stimulates increase in the production of regulatory RNAIII, which causes upregulation of genes involved in invasive infection such as proteases, hemolysins, lipase, and superantigens. Also embedded within the RNAIII transcript is the mRNA encoding a small cytolytic toxin δ -hemolysin, which is a member of the phenol soluble modulin family. (54)

Although a major regulator of virulence in *S. aureus*, Agr is only one of several two component systems present in the genome, including *saeRS*, *srrAB*, and *arlRS* (58-60). The regulon of TCS *saeRS* overlaps with that of *agr*, and is induced in response to RNAIII. The environmental signals contributing to *saeRS* expression are not as well understood, but it has been demonstrated that its expression may be reduced in response to low pH, and its regulon overlaps that of *agr*. The TCS encoded by *arl* induces



autolysis, while downregulating agr (61) . *srrAB* is also an antagonist of agr, and is induced in response to low O₂ (60).

In addition to TCS, *S. aureus* also employs transcription factors and alternative sigma factors in the regulation of its virulence. *S. aureus* has several transcription factors, most notably the Staphylococcal accessory regulator (Sar) family of helix-turn-helix DNA binding proteins. This family contains 6 members, SarA, R, S, T, U, and V, but, specific mention will be made to only SarA here. SarA represses the transcription of proteases, and also effects the expression of RNAIII, thus indirectly regulating the expression of Agr-regulated genes (62). Alternative sigma factors are also involved in the regulation of gene expression in response to environmental stimuli, most nobably σ^{B} , which is a major alternative sigma factor responding to environmental stresses such as energy depletion, and oxidative stress. In general, σ^{B} causes a decrease in the expression of exoproteins, and an increase in many adhesion proteins. Importantly, σ^{B} increases the expression of SarA, thus heavily decreasing the expression of secreted proteases, and is also required for carotenoid pigment synthesis. σ^{B} mutants are thus completely deficient in pigment synthesis and are hyper-producers of secreted protease (63).

1.9 Antibiotic resistance

The combination of the virulence and staggering rates of antibiotic resistance of *S. aureus* has led to its appointment to the list of so called "Superbugs". As stated earlier, the introduction of the beta lactam penicillin led to a large reduction in the mortality rate of *S. aureus*, due to its ability to bind and inhibit the transpeptidase (penicillin binding protein, PBP) that catalyzes the crosslinking of the peptidoglycan. However, two years



later penicillin resistant strains emerged, and today, more than 90% of S. aurues isolates are penicillin resistant (64). Penicillin resistance is mediated by a penicillinase, which breaks down the beta-lactam ring of penicillin, preventing it from inhibiting PBP (65). To battle penicillin resistance, penicillinase-resistant antibiotics were produced, such as methicillin. However, methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) emerged in the United States and the United Kingdom in 1961, and as the name suggests, it is resistant to methicillin, and in fact all beta-lactam antibiotics. Beta-lactam resistance is mediated by the acquisition of an alternative PBP, PBP2a, that has less affinity for betalactam antibiotics, thus rendering the treatment ineffective. PBP2a is encoded on the gene mecA, present on a pathogenicity island known as the Staphylococcal Chromosomal Cassette (SCCmec), likely acquired via horizontal gene transfer from Staphylococcus *epidermidis* (66). Thus far, there are 8 different types of SCC*mec* elements discovered in S. aureus, which differ based on size and antibiotic resistance genes (67). Although all SCCmec elements harbour the mecA gene, certain SCCmec elements have other mobile genetic element insertions that contain non-beta-lactam antibiotic resistant genes, such as SCCmec II and III (14). Additional antibiotic resistance genes provide for further protection against antibiotics, although this comes at a fitness cost, and thus these strains may be less aggressive, but much more difficult to treat. Hospital associated methicillin resistant (HA-MRSA) strains characteristically have SCCmec types II and III, which carry additional antibiotic resistance genes (68). Community-associated methicillin resistant (CA-MRSA) strains typically have been associated with type IV SCCmec elements, although types V and VII have been found as well. These SCCmec types lack additional non-beta-lactam antibiotic resistance genes and the mobile genetic insertion elements that are characteristic of SCCmec types of HA-MRSA, and it is likely that this



contributes to their increase virulence and propensity to infect healthy individuals, although renders the bacteria more susceptible to antibiotic treatment then their HA-MRSA counterparts (69).

1.10 CA-MRSA and USA300

CA-MRSA, and strain USA300 in particular, are the most common cause of aggressive SSTI reporting to emergency rooms in North America (70-72). In addition to the differences between CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA listed above, there are other factors that differentiate the two, and there is thus an ongoing debate in the literature that addresses these factors as possible causes of the increased virulence of CA-MRSA. These include higher production of virulence factors such as PSMs, the presence of the Panton Valentin Leukocidin (PVL) toxin, and in the case of USA300, the presence of the Arginine Catabolic Mobile Element (ACME) (73). Arguably, the most fiercely debated of these factors is the presence of the PVL encoding genes, *lukS-PV* and *lukF-PV* on a prophage. This is an obvious target because it is both a putative virulence factor, and is present in the vast majority of CA-MRSA strains, and absent in HA-MRSA strains. Literature has provided evidence both in favor of and against the notion that PVL is indeed the virulence factor that is responsible for the increased virulence of CA-MRSA. Specifically, in vivo infection models using rabbits have established that PVL is indeed necessary for virulence; however this has not been unequivocally supported in studies using murine models. It has been suggested that differences in sensitivity of leukocytes of different animals is the cause of this ambiguity (67, 73-77).



The ACME is with a few exceptions, exclusively associated with USA300, and is physically linked to the SCCmec type IV element (78). Present on this mobile genetic element is an arginine deiminase operon, and an oligopeptide permease operon, and it has been suggested that these may contribute to fitness of the organism. Specifically, the arginine deiminase pathway culminates in the release of an ATP molecule, and a basic NH₃ molecule that may neutralize the acidic environment of the skin, and thus promote colonization. Oligopeptide permeases allow for the uptake of small nutrients in the form of small polypeptides. Although ACME may theoretically increase the fitness of USA300, this has yet to be unambiguously demonstrated, and thus is not generally accepted as a major cause of the increased virulence seen in USA300 (28, 79, 80). It is perhaps more likely that ACME contributes to enhanced survival on the skin, and thus increased pervasiveness in the community.

1.11 Staphylococcal proteolytic cascade

The Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade (SPC) consists of three secreted proteases, the metalloprotease Aureolysin (Aur), staphylococcal serine protease A (SspA), and cysteine protease Staphopain B (SspB), with SspA and SspB in an operon along with a cognate inhibitor to Staphopain B, Staphostatin B (SspC), collectively forming the *sspABC* operon. The cascade is that of sequential activation of the proteases, culminating in the activation of SspB. The cascade begins with the production and autocatalytic activation of Aureolysin, which then activates SspA, and activated SspA then activates SspB cysteine protease(28, 81-83).



Aureolysin is an M4 family metalloprotease and its 56 kDa precursor form becomes active via the autocatalytic removal of its 23 kDa propeptide, yielding a 33 kDa active enzyme. Activity of this protease depends on a Zn^{2+} in the active site, coordinated by His₃₅₂ (84). As with other M4 metalloprotease family members, aureolysin often acts as a proprotein convertase, which serves to process and activate other enzymes, and also has a broad substrate specificity, preferring a hydrophobic amino acid at the P1 position.

Although the activation of glutamyl endopeptidase SspA depends on aureolysin, proSspA is able to undergo initial steps of autocatalysis and these steps are necessary for the efficient final activation by Aur. A glutamine rich segment between propeptide residues 40 and 53 facilitates autocatalysis by the glutamyl endopeptidase, and preferred cleavage is at Gln₄₃. This allows for the release of mature SspA by cleavage at Leu₅₆, and then Val₆₉ by aureolysin (82) . Mature SspA preferentially cleaves on the C-terminal side of glutamic acid residues, and controls adhesion of *S. aureus* by breaking down the MSCRAMM FnBP, thus contributing to invasive infection (83) , and also activates proSspB.

Mature Staphopain B cysteine protease represents the fruition of the SPC. Secreted as an inactive precursor, proSspB's activation depends on SspA cleavage on the C-terminal end of Glu₂₂₀ on the propeptide of SspB (28). Mature SspB performs a variety of functions, including the degradation of fibrinogen, collagen, the chemottractant chemerin(28, 85, 86), thus contributing to virulence. Staphopain B cleaves with the preference for arginine at the P1 position, and a bulky amino acid at P2 (83).



The proteases of the SPC, along with another cysteine protease outside of the SPC, Staphopain A (ScpA), constitute the major proteolytic repertoire of *S. aureus*. Although the list of the virulence capabilities of protease has not been exhausted here, cumulatively, proteases contribute to infection by i) Controlling adhesion to host tissues ii) Acting as proprotein convertases, iii) Degrading plasma molecules contributing to blood clotting, and iv) Degrading immune system molecules.

1.12 Glycerol Ester Hydrolase and role of lipases in virulence

The lipase Glycerol Ester Hydrolase (Geh) is expressed as a 72kDa precursor enzyme, and is processed into a 42kDa mature protein. Its annotated function is to break down triglycerides via the hydrolysis of the ester bonds between fatty acids and the glycerol molecule, and in this sense, it has been deemed to aid the bacteria in the breakdown of host tissues and the liberation of nutrients. Traditionally, Geh has been dismissed as a significant virulence factor, and *S. aureus* researchers have even used *geh* as the target gene for the insertion of plasmids and expression of exogenous genes. However, it was recently demonstrated that a lipase mutant was less virulent in a murine model, and was also less able to form biofilms (87). Apart from this, there has been no significant research into the contribution of lipases to virulence in *S. aureus*, or how lipases may promote colonization.

1.13 Resistance to antimicrobial fatty acids

In addition to other innate defenses at the host-pathogen interface such as low pH, high NaCl concentration and antimicrobial peptides, long chain fatty acids are abundant on the skin and in nasal secretions, and have been reported to be potent antimicrobials. Fatty



acids exist on the skin in sebum, which is a waxy substance secreted by the sebaceous glands and consists of ~28% free fatty acids, with the rest being composed of triglycerides, wax esters and squalene (88). In addition to the skin, there are also fatty acids present at μ M concentrations in nasal secretions, and mM concentrations in an abscess (89, 90). Fatty acids have been identified as important components of innate skin defense, and patients with a deficient production of Sapienic acid (C16:1 Δ 6) on the skin were more prone to develop atopic dermatitis (91), an inflammatory condition that is highly associated with *S. aureus* colonization. Fatty acids on the skin and in the nasal mucosa include myristic acid (C14:0), palmitic acid (C16:0), palmitoleic acid (C16:1), sapienic acid (C16:1), stearic acid (C18:0), oleic acid (C18:1), and linoleic acid (C18:2). These fatty acids are present in varying concentrations from individual to individual (89).

Some bacteria are able to utilize fatty acids as a means of energy; however, this requires that the fatty acid be broken down into two-carbon acetyl-CoA molecules by beta-oxidation for entrance into the TCA cycle. According the annotated genome sequence, *S. aureus* lacks the enzymes necessary for beta-oxidation, and thus it is unlikely that *S. aureus* is able to break down fatty acids using this method (11, 78). In addition to utilizing fatty acids, some bacteria also produce and secrete fatty acids. Importantly, *Lactobacillli* of the nasal microbiota have been shown to produce conjugated linoleic acid, an isomer of linoleic acid (92-94), and Importantly, *S. aureus* must also compete with the nasal microbiota for colonization, including several phyla of bacteria, including Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Actinobacteria. As an example of this competition, it has been shown that there is an inverse correlation of the amount of *Staphylococcaceae* and members of the *Actinobacteria* family (92). The differences in the



profile of microbiota between individuals may, in part, account for the differences in the composition of fatty acids of the nasal fluid, and these differences in the composition of the microbiota and fatty acid profile of the skin an nasal passage must be taken into consideration when putting this research into context.

Literature thus far indicating mechanisms of resistance to fatty acids have typically found that the absence of a cell wall anchored element causes increased sensitivity to fatty acids, and thus implicates that element in resistance. The heme coordinating surface protein IsdA, *S. aureus* surface protein F (SasG), and teichoic acids have all been implicated in resistance to fatty acids (95-97). While the mechanism of resistance had not been demonstrated, it has been suggested that this is due to the physical presence of the cell surface proteins acting as a barrier to fatty acids.

The most demonstrable and specific known mechanism of resistance to fatty acids is the Fatty Acid Modifying Enzyme (FAME). The FAME is an enzymatic activity that can be detected in 80% of *S. aureus* strains, and is characterized by the esterification of a fatty acid to a free hydroxyl, usually on a cholesterol molecule, thus detoxifying the fatty acid (98, 99) . In spite of the knowledge of FAME's existence since the 1980's, the enzyme itself has never been isolated, nor has the genetic component been identified. The enzymatic activity of this enzyme is to perform an esterification reaction, optimally at a low pH (5.5-6); both properties opposing those of traditional lipases which have optimal esterase activity at a high pH (99-101) . In keeping with traditional virulence factors, and similar to Geh, FAME activity seems to be dependent on induction by Agr (102), and it has been shown that FAME producing strains are more virulent in a murine model than strains in which FAME is not detected (99) .



RERFERENCES

- 1. Ogston A (1881) Micro-organisms in surgical diseases. The British Medical Journal 369-375.
- 2. Lowy FD (1998) Staphylococcus aureus infections. N Engl J Med 339: 520-532.
- 3. Archer GL (1998) *Staphylococcus aureus*: A well-armed pathogen. *Clin Infect Dis* 26: 1179-1181.
- 4. Peacock SJ, de Silva I & Lowy FD (2001) What determines nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*?. *Trends Microbiol* 9: 605-610.
- 5. Wertheim HF, et al (2005) The role of nasal carriage in *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Lancet Infect Dis* 5: 751-762.
- 6. Melles DC, *et al* (2008) Overlapping population structures of nasal isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus* from healthy Dutch and American individuals. *J Clin Microbiol* 46: 235-241.
- 7. Pelz A, *et al* (2005) Structure and biosynthesis of staphyloxanthin from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Biol Chem* 280: 32493-32498.
- Hendrix H, Lindhout T, Mertens K, Engels W & Hemker HC (1983) Activation of human prothrombin by stoichiometric levels of staphylocoagulase. *J Biol Chem* 258: 3637-3644.
- McDevitt D, Francois P, Vaudaux P & Foster TJ (1994) Molecular characterization of the clumping factor (fibrinogen receptor) of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol Microbiol* 11: 237-248.
- 10. Lindsay JA & Holden MT (2004) *Staphylococcus aureus*: Superbug, super genome?. *Trends Microbiol* 12: 378-385.
- 11. Holden MT, *et al* (2004) Complete genomes of two clinical *Staphylococcus aureus* strains: Evidence for the rapid evolution of virulence and drug resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 9786-9791.
- 12. Lindsay JA & Holden MT (2006) Understanding the rise of the superbug: Investigation of the evolution and genomic variation of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Funct Integr Genomics* 6: 186-201.
- 13. Firth N & Skurray RA (1998) Mobile elements in the evolution and spread of multiple-drug resistance in staphylococci. *Drug Resist Updat* 1: 49-58.



- Ito T, Okuma K, Ma XX, Yuzawa H & Hiramatsu K (2003) Insights on antibiotic resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* from its whole genome: Genomic island SCC. *Drug Resist Updat* 6: 41-52.
- Lim D & Strynadka NC (2002) Structural basis for the beta lactam resistance of PBP2a from methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Nat Struct Biol* 9: 870-876.
- 16. Baba T, *et al* (2002) Genome and virulence determinants of high virulence community-acquired MRSA. *Lancet* 359: 1819-1827.
- 17. Kuroda M, *et al* (2001) Whole genome sequencing of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Lancet* 357: 1225-1240.
- McGavin M, Arsic B & Nickerson N (2012) Evolutionary blueprint for host- and niche-adaptation in *Staphylococcus aureus* clonal complex CC30. *Front Cell Inf Microbio* 2: 48.
- 19. Wertheim HF, et al (2005) Associations between *Staphylococcus aureus* genotype, infection, and in-hospital mortality: A nested case-control study. *J Infect Dis* 192: 1196-1200.
- 20. Wertheim HF, et al (2005) The role of nasal carriage in *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Lancet Infect Dis* 5: 751-762.
- Altemeier WA, Lewis S, Schlievert PM & Bjornson HS (1981) Studies of the staphylococcal causation of toxic shock syndrome. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 153: 481-485.
- 22. Schlievert PM, Shands KN, Dan BB, Schmid GP & Nishimura RD (1981) Identification and characterization of an exotoxin from *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with toxic-shock syndrome. *J Infect Dis* 143: 509-516.
- 23. Patti JM, Allen BL, McGavin MJ & Hook M (1994) MSCRAMM-mediated adherence of microorganisms to host tissues. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 48: 585-617.
- 24. Patti JM & Hook M (1994) Microbial adhesins recognizing extracellular matrix macromolecules. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 6: 752-758.
- 25. Schneewind O, Fowler A & Faull KF (1995) Structure of the cell wall anchor of surface proteins in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Science* 268: 103-106.
- 26. Mazmanian SK, Ton-That H, Su K & Schneewind O (2002) An iron-regulated sortase anchors a class of surface protein during *Staphylococcus aureus* pathogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99: 2293-2298.



- 27. McGavin MJ, Zahradka C, Rice K & Scott JE (1997) Modification of the *Staphylococcus aureus* fibronectin binding phenotype by V8 protease. *Infect Immun* 65: 2621-2628.
- 28. Massimi I, *et al* (2002) Identification of a novel maturation mechanism and restricted substrate specificity for the SspB cysteine protease of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Biol Chem* 277: 41770-41777.
- 29. Vincent AF, Novick RP, Ferretti JJ, Portnoy DA & Roof JI (2006) Gram positive pathogens
- 30. Bhakdi S & Tranum-Jensen J (1991) Alpha-toxin of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbiol Rev* 55: 733-751.
- 31. Hildebrand A, Pohl M & Bhakdi S (1991) *Staphylococcus aureus* alpha-toxin. dual mechanism of binding to target cells. *J Biol Chem* 266: 17195-17200.
- 32. Song L, *et al* (1996) Structure of staphylococcal alpha-hemolysin, a heptameric transmembrane pore. *Science* 274: 1859-1866.
- 33. Kennedy AD, et al (2010) Targeting of alpha-hemolysin by active or passive immunization decreases severity of USA300 skin infection in a mouse model. J Infect Dis 202: 1050-1058.
- 34. Melles DC, et al (2006) Panton-valentine leukocidin genes in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Emerg Infect Dis 12: 1174-1175.
- 35. Song Y, *et al* (2009) Inhibition of staphyloxanthin virulence factor biosynthesis in *Staphylococcus aureus*: In vitro, in vivo, and crystallographic results. *J Med Chem* 52: 3869-3880.
- 36. Deisenhofer J (1981) Crystallographic refinement and atomic models of a human fc fragment and its complex with fragment B of protein A from *Staphylococcus aureus* at 2.9- and 2.8-A resolution. *Biochemistry* 20: 2361-2370.
- 37. Deisenhofer J, Jones TA, Huber R, Sjodahl J & Sjoquist J (1978) Crystallization, crystal structure analysis and atomic model of the complex formed by a human fc fragment and fragment B of protein A from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Hoppe Seylers* Z Physiol Chem 359: 975-985.
- 38. Bhasin N, *et al* (1998) Identification of a gene essential for O-acetylation of the *Staphylococcus aureus* type 5 capsular polysaccharide. *Mol Microbiol* 27: 9-21.
- 39. O'Riordan K & Lee JC (2004) *Staphylococcus aureus* capsular polysaccharides. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 17: 218-234.



- 40. Watts A, *et al* (2005) *Staphylococcus aureus* strains that express serotype 5 or serotype 8 capsular polysaccharides differ in virulence. *Infect Immun* 73: 3502-3511.
- 41. Karakawa WW, Sutton A, Schneerson R, Karpas A & Vann WF (1988) Capsular antibodies induce type-specific phagocytosis of capsulated *Staphylococcus aureus* by human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Infect Immun* 56: 1090-1095.
- 42. Li M, et al (2007) The antimicrobial peptide-sensing system aps of *Staphylococcus* aureus. Mol Microbiol 66: 1136-1147.
- 43. Rooijakkers SH, *et al* (2006) Early expression of SCIN and CHIPS drives instant immune evasion by *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Cell Microbiol* 8: 1282-1293.
- 44. Rooijakkers SH, *et al* (2007) Staphylococcal complement inhibitor: Structure and active sites. *J Immunol* 179: 2989-2998.
- 45. Rooijakkers SH, van Kessel KP & van Strijp JA (2005) Staphylococcal innate immune evasion. *Trends Microbiol* 13: 596-601.
- 46. Rooijakkers SH, van Wamel WJ, Ruyken M, van Kessel KP & van Strijp JA (2005) Anti-opsonic properties of staphylokinase. *Microbes Infect* 7: 476-484.
- 47. Bunschoten A, *et al* (2010) CHIPS binds to the phosphorylated N-terminus of the C5a-receptor. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 20: 3338-3340.
- 48. Prat C, Bestebroer J, de Haas CJ, van Strijp JA & van Kessel KP (2006) A new staphylococcal anti-inflammatory protein that antagonizes the formyl peptide receptor-like 1. *J Immunol* 177: 8017-8026.
- 49. Haas PJ, *et al* (2005) The structure of the C5a receptor-blocking domain of chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *Staphylococcus aureus* is related to a group of immune evasive molecules. *J Mol Biol* 353: 859-872.
- 50. Queck SY, *et al* (2009) Mobile genetic element-encoded cytolysin connects virulence to methicillin resistance in MRSA. *PLoS Pathog* 5: e1000533.
- 51. Cheung GY, Duong AC & Otto M (2012) Direct and synergistic hemolysis caused by *Staphylococcus* phenol-soluble modulins: Implications for diagnosis and pathogenesis. *Microbes Infect* 14: 380-386.
- 52. Novick RP, *et al* (1993) Synthesis of staphylococcal virulence factors is controlled by a regulatory RNA molecule. *EMBO J* 12: 3967-3975.
- 53. Novick RP (2003) Autoinduction and signal transduction in the regulation of staphylococcal virulence. *Mol Microbiol* 48: 1429-1449.


- 54. Novick RP, *et al* (1995) The agr P2 operon: An autocatalytic sensory transduction system in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol Gen Genet* 248: 446-458.
- 55. Zhang L, Gray L, Novick RP & Ji G (2002) Transmembrane topology of AgrB, the protein involved in the post-translational modification of AgrD in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Biol Chem* 277: 34736-34742.
- 56. Zhang L, Lin J & Ji G (2004) Membrane anchoring of the AgrD N-terminal amphipathic region is required for its processing to produce a quorum-sensing pheromone in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Biol Chem* 279: 19448-19456.
- 57. Lina G, *et al* (1998) Transmembrane topology and histidine protein kinase activity of AgrC, the agr signal receptor in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol Microbiol* 28: 655-662.
- 58. Giraudo AT, Calzolari A, Cataldi AA, Bogni C & Nagel R (1999) Corrigendum to: "The sae locus of *Staphylococcus aureus* encodes a two-component regulatory system". *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 180: 117.
- 59. Yarwood JM, McCormick JK & Schlievert PM (2001) Identification of a novel twocomponent regulatory system that acts in global regulation of virulence factors of *Staphylococcus aureus. J Bacteriol* 183: 1113-1123.
- 60. Fournier B & Hooper DC (2000) A new two-component regulatory system involved in adhesion, autolysis, and extracellular proteolytic activity of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Bacteriol* 182: 3955-3964.
- 61. Fournier B, Klier A & Rapoport G (2001) The two-component system ArlS-ArlR is a regulator of virulence gene expression in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol Microbiol* 41: 247-261.
- 62. Heinrichs JH, Bayer MG & Cheung AL (1996) Characterization of the sar locus and its interaction with agr in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Bacteriol 178: 418-423.
- 63. Bischoff M, et al (2004) Microarray-based analysis of the *Staphylococcus aureus* sigmaB regulon. J Bacteriol 186: 4085-4099.
- 64. Gardam MA (2000) Is methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* an emerging community pathogen? A review of the literature. *Can J Infect Dis* 11: 202-211.
- 65. Fisher JF, Meroueh SO & Mobashery S (2005) Bacterial resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics: Compelling opportunism, compelling opportunity. *Chem Rev* 105: 395-424.



- 66. Katayama Y, Ito T & Hiramatsu K (2000) A new class of genetic element, *Staphylococcus* cassette chromosome mec, encodes methicillin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 44: 1549-1555.
- 67. Nastaly P, Grinholc M & Bielawski KP (2010) Molecular characteristics of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains for clinical medicine. *Arch Microbiol* 192: 603-617.
- 68. Deurenberg RH & Stobberingh EE (2008) The evolution of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect Genet Evol* 8: 747-763.
- 69. Lee SM, *et al* (2007) Fitness cost of staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* by way of continuous culture. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 51: 1497-1499.
- 70. Achiam CC, *et al* (2010) Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in skin and soft tissue infections presenting to the emergency department of a canadian academic health care center. *Eur J Emerg Med*
- 71. Gilbert M, et al (2007) Prevalence of USA300 colonization or infection and associated variables during an outbreak of community-associated methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus in a marginalized urban population. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 18: 357-362.
- 72. Moran GJ, *et al* (2006) Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections among patients in the emergency department. *N Engl J Med* 355: 666-674.
- 73. Otto M (2010) Basis of virulence in community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Annu Rev Microbiol* 64: 143-162.
- 74. Labandeira-Rey M, *et al* (2007) *Staphylococcus aureus* panton-valentine leukocidin causes necrotizing pneumonia. *Science* 315: 1130-1133.
- 75. Loffler B, *et al* (2010) *Staphylococcus aureus* panton-valentine leukocidin is a very potent cytotoxic factor for human neutrophils. *PLoS Pathog* 6: e1000715.
- 76. Olsen RJ, *et al* (2010) Lack of a major role of *Staphylococcus aureus* pantonvalentine leukocidin in lower respiratory tract infection in nonhuman primates. *Am J Pathol* 176: 1346-1354.
- 77. Villaruz AE, *et al* (2009) A point mutation in the agr locus rather than expression of the panton-valentine leukocidin caused previously reported phenotypes in *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia and gene regulation. *J Infect Dis* 200: 724-734.



- Diep BA, et al (2006) Complete genome sequence of USA300, an epidemic clone of community-acquired meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Lancet* 367: 731-739.
- 79. Diep BA, et al (2008) The arginine catabolic mobile element and staphylococcal chromosomal cassette mec linkage: Convergence of virulence and resistance in the USA300 clone of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. J Infect Dis 197: 1523-1530.
- 80. Montgomery CP, Boyle-Vavra S & Daum RS (2009) The arginine catabolic mobile element is not associated with enhanced virulence in experimental invasive disease caused by the community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 genetic background. *Infect Immun* 77: 2650-2656.
- 81. Nickerson NN, Joag V & McGavin MJ (2008) Rapid autocatalytic activation of the M4 metalloprotease aureolysin is controlled by a conserved N-terminal fungalysin-thermolysin-propeptide domain. *Mol Microbiol* 69: 1530-1543.
- 82. Nickerson NN, Prasad L, Jacob L, Delbaere LT & McGavin MJ (2007) Activation of the SspA serine protease zymogen of *Staphylococcus aureus* proceeds through unique variations of a trypsinogen-like mechanism and is dependent on both autocatalytic and metalloprotease-specific processing. *J Biol Chem* 282: 34129-34138.
- 83. Rice K, Peralta R, Bast D, de Azavedo J & McGavin MJ (2001) Description of *Staphylococcus* serine protease (ssp) operon in *Staphylococcus aureus* and nonpolar inactivation of sspA-encoded serine protease. *Infect Immun* 69: 159-169.
- 84. Rawlings ND & Barrett AJ (1995) Evolutionary families of metallopeptidases. *Methods Enzymol* 248: 183-228.
- 85. Ohbayashi T, *et al* (2011) Degradation of fibrinogen and collagen by staphopains, cysteine proteases released from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbiology* 157: 786-792.
- 86. Kulig P, *et al* (2007) *Staphylococcus aureus*-derived staphopain B, a potent cysteine protease activator of plasma chemerin. *J Immunol* 178: 3713-3720.
- 87. Hu C, Xiong N, Zhang Y, Rayner S & Chen S (2012) Functional characterization of lipase in the pathogenesis of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 419: 617-620.
- 88. Stefaniak AB & Harvey CJ (2006) Dissolution of materials in artificial skin surface film liquids. *Toxicol in Vitro* 20: 1265-1283.



- 89. Do TQ, *et al* (2008) Lipids including cholesteryl linoleate and cholesteryl arachidonate contribute to the inherent antibacterial activity of human nasal fluid. *J Immunol* 181: 4177-4187.
- 90. Shryock TR, Dye ES & Kapral FA (1992) The accumulation of bactericidal lipids in staphylococcal abscesses. *J Med Microbiol* 36: 332-336.
- 91. Takigawa H, Nakagawa H, Kuzukawa M, Mori H & Imokawa G (2005) Deficient production of hexadecenoic acid in the skin is associated in part with the vulnerability of atopic dermatitis patients to colonization by *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Dermatology* 211: 240-248.
- 92. Lemon KP, *et al* (2010) Comparative analyses of the bacterial microbiota of the human nostril and oropharynx. *MBio* 1: e00129-10.
- 93. Liu P, et al (2011) Production of conjugated linoleic acids by lactobacillus plantarum strains isolated from naturally fermented chinese pickles. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 12: 923-930.
- 94. Ross GR, Van Nieuwenhove CP & Gonzalez SN (2012) Fatty acid profile of pig meat after probiotic administration. *J Agric Food Chem*
- 95. Clarke SR, *et al* (2007) The *Staphylococcus aureus* surface protein IsdA mediates resistance to innate defenses of human skin. *Cell Host Microbe* 1: 199-212.
- 96. King NP, et al (2012) Characterisation of a cell wall-anchored protein of Staphylococcus saprophyticus associated with linoleic acid resistance. BMC Microbiol 12: 8.
- 97. Kohler T, Weidenmaier C & Peschel A (2009) Wall teichoic acid protects Staphylococcus aureus against antimicrobial fatty acids from human skin. J Bacteriol 191: 4482-4484.
- 98. Long JP, Hart J, Albers W & Kapral FA (1992) The production of fatty acid modifying enzyme (FAME) and lipase by various staphylococcal species. J Med Microbiol 37: 232-234.
- 99. Mortensen JE, Shryock TR & Kapral FA (1992) Modification of bactericidal fatty acids by an enzyme of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Med Microbiol* 36: 293-298.
- 100. Tyski S, Hryniewicz W & Jeljaszewicz J (1983) Purification and some properties of the staphylococcal extracellular lipase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 749: 312-317.
- 101. Kotting J, Eibl H & Fehrenbach FJ (1988) Substrate specificity of *Staphylococcus aureus* (TEN5) lipases with isomeric oleoyl-sn-glycerol ethers as substrates. *Chem Phys Lipids* 47: 117-122.



102. Chamberlain NR & Imanoel B (1996) Genetic regulation of fatty acid modifying enzyme from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Med Microbiol* 44: 125-129.

HYPOTHESIS and OBJECTIVES:

Exposure of *Staphylococcus aureus* to long chain antimicrobial fatty acids will invoke an adaptive response that ultimately contributes to persistence on the skin and in the anterior nares, and promotes the shift from colonization to infection.

- **Objective 1:** Assess the growth of clinically relevant strains of *S. aureus* in the presence of physiological concentrations of fatty acids present on the skin and in the nasal mucosa.
- **Objective 2:** Determine the effect of fatty acids on virulence factor production by *S. aureus*
- **Objective 3:** Determine the significance of differentially expressed virulence factors and the mechanism of *S. aureus* resistance to fatty acids.



CHAPTER 2

Induction of the Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade by unsaturated fatty acids in community-acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*

Work presented in this chapter has been published in PLoS ONE



2.1 INTRODUCTION

Staphylococcus aureus has a dichotomous relationship with humans. It is a ubiquitous commensal that persistently colonizes 25%-30% of the human population (1), yet it also has a broad arsenal of virulence factors (2), which enable it to be a leading cause of infections, ranging from relatively mild skin and soft tissue infections, to severe and life-threatening conditions such as necrotizing pneumonia, osteomyelitis, and infective endocarditis (2,3). The preferred site of colonization is the anterior nares, and infections are typically a consequence of autologous nasal carriage (4). Significant effort has therefore been directed towards identifying host and microbial factors that determine the carriage or non-carriage status (1,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12), and in this context, our study is based on two broad assumptions. First, in order to maintain a persistent carrier status, *S. aureus* must endure innate defense mechanisms of the skin and mucosal surfaces, and from this, it follows that highly invasive pandemic strains of *S. aureus* should possess effective means of responding to these innate defense mechanisms.

The USA300 strain of community acquired methicillin resistant *S. aureus* (CA-MRSA) is well suited for testing these tenets of virulence and transmission. For approximately 30 years after the emergence of methicillin resistance, MRSA were restricted to the hospital environment, and these hospital-associated MRSA evolved by acquiring resistance to multiple antimicrobial agents (13,14,15,16). However, beginning in the 1990's, the epidemiology of MRSA colonization and infection has undergone a paradigm shift with the rapid emergence and pandemic community transmission of the USA300 strain of CA-MRSA, which is known for causing aggressive skin and soft tissue infections that can progress to fatal complications if not rapidly treated (17,18). USA300



is now the leading cause of visits to hospital emergency departments in North America, for treatment of skin infections (19), and is displacing less virulent HA-MRSA, potentially aided by its ability to establish asymptomatic nasal carriage in health care workers (20). USA300 is more easily transmitted to household contacts compared to other *S. aureus* genetic backgrounds (21), and this study which surveyed the inguinal area in addition to the anterior nares, would have missed 51% of MRSA colonized persons if it had been conducted on a nares-only basis (21), which supports the contention that the rampant community transmission of USA300 could be due in part to a superior ability to persist on skin surfaces. A portion of this success is attributed to the arginine catabolism mobile element ACME, which uniquely confers resistance of USA300 to antimicrobial polyamines (22), and has been proposed to facilitate persistence on skin through catabolism of arginine with concomitant release of ammonia to neutralize acidic pH (23,24,25).

Another barrier to persistence of bacteria on skin is the antimicrobial properties of sebum (26,27), which is a liquid phase lipid mixture secreted from the sebaceous glands, consisting of approximately 28% free fatty acids, 32% triglycerides, 25% wax esters, and 11% squalene (28). In sebum triglycerides and free fatty acids, the major component is sapienic acid (C16:1 Δ 6), which is an isomer of palmitoleic acid (C16:1 Δ 9), and exhibits the primary antimicrobial activity (27). The importance of sapienic acid as an innate defense mechanism is evident in atopic dermatitis, where the skin is deficient in this fatty acid (29), and there is a near 100% recovery of *S. aureus* from the skin of atopic dermatitis patients. *S. aureus* is also exposed to antimicrobial fatty acids in colonization of the anterior nares, where palmitoleic (sapienic) and linoleic acid (C18:2) were



identified as the major unsaturated free fatty acids (uFFA) in human nasal secretions (30). Linoleic acid also accumulates to high levels within *S. aureus* abscesses (31), and abscess formation is a hallmark of *S. aureus* infection of the skin and soft tissues.

Although exposure to antimicrobial fatty acids would be one of the first signals encountered by S. aureus during colonization of the skin or anterior nares, studies that have assessed the response of CA-MRSA to host-specific environmental signals have focused on stresses related to growth in blood, or phagocytosis by neutrophils (32,33). Therefore, the goal of this study was to evaluate how growth and production of secreted virulence factors by USA300 is influenced by exposure to physiologic levels of uFFA. Herein, we describe the robust induction of the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade pathway (SPC) in response to subinhibitory concentrations of uFFA in USA300 and other strains of CA-MRSA, and this response was also evident to varying degrees in clinical MSSA. The staphylococcal proteolytic cascade is comprised of a metalloprotease Aureolysin, which is needed to activate the SspA serine protease, which in turn activates the SspB cysteine protease that is co-expressed with SspA in the sspABC operon (34,35,36,37,38). We discuss the implications of this environmental signal-response pathway, and its potential impact on colonization, transmission, and the aggressive nature of skin and soft tissue infections caused by CA-MRSA.



2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1 Strains and growth conditions

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are defined in Table 2.1. Cultures were maintained as frozen stocks (-80°C) in 20% glycerol, and streaked on TSB agar when required. TSB was supplemented, when necessary, with 10μ g/mL erythromycin or 2μ g/mL tetracycline for propagation of strains bearing resistance markers.



Strain	Description	Source
RN4220	Restriction deficient lab strain	(42)
DU5969	RN4220aur::lacZ	(48)
USA300 LAC	Hypervirulent pandemic CA-MRSA Los Angeles	(77,78)
	county clone, clonal complex CC8 spa t008	Barry Kreiswirth
USA300	USA300 LAC cured of antibiotic resistance plasmid	This study
USA300aur::lacZ	aur::lacZ from DU5969 transduced into USA300	This study
USA300sspABC	Replacement of <i>sspABC</i> in USA300 with Tc ^r cassette,	This study
	using pMJ232	
USA300aur	Transduction of <i>aur::lacZ</i> into USA300	This study
USA300sspABCaur	Transduction of <i>aur::lacZ</i> into USA300sspABC	This study
USA400	CA-MRSA fatal pediatric bacteremia, CC1 spa t127	(79)
MSSA476	CA-MSSA closely related to USA400; pediatric	(75)
	osteomyelitis	
Newman	MSSA clinical isolate; routinely used in virulence	(80,81)
	studies, CC8 spa t008	
WBG10049	Southwest Pacific Clone of CA-MRSA, CC30 spa t019	(82)
MRSA252	HA-MRSA; CC30, spa t016	(83)
UAMS-1	MSSA osteomyelitis, CC30 spa t033	(84)
SRI-138	MSSA dermatitis CC45 spa t065	(85)
SRI-109	MSSA dermatitis; CC45 spa t015	(85)
PED1-75	MSSA pediatric dermatitis; CC5 spa t002	(85)
SRI-116	MSSA dermatitis; CC1 spa t7404	(85)
SRI-142	MSSA dermatitis; CC1 spa t4938	(85)
PED2-1	CA-MRSA pediatric dermatitis; CC97 spa t7398	(85)
PED1-53	MSSA pediatric dermatitis; CC8 spa t008	(85)
L528	MSSA infective endocarditis; CC30 spa t033	(52)
PED1-37	MSSA pediatric dermatitis; CC398 spa t937	(85)

Table 2.1 S. aureus strains and plasmids used in this study



Table 2.1 Continued.....

Plasmid	Description	Source
pMAD	Shuttle vector for construction of	(41)
	mutations in Gram-positive bacteria	
pDG1514	Source of Tc ^r cassette	(86)
pMJ232	pMAD containing Tc ^r cassette from	This study
	pDG1514, flanked by BamHI-(sspA-	
	5P)- <i>Mlu</i> I and <i>EcoR</i> I-(<i>sspC</i> -3P)- <i>Bgl</i> II	

2.2.2 Generation of plasmid-cured USA300

USA300 LAC was a generous gift from Dr. B. Kreiswirth. To facilitate mutagenesis in the USA300 genetic background, USA300 LAC was cured of the 27-kb plasmid (39), yielding USA300, which is sensitive to erythromycin, kanamycin and neomycin, using the method previously described (40). The plasmid cured USA300 LAC is referred to as USA300 throughout.

Construction of USA300∆*sspABC*

The *sspABC* operon encodes the SspA serine protease and Staphopain B cysteine protease SspB. For construction of USA300 Δ *sspABC::tc*, three DNA segments were assembled in pMAD, consisting of a 702-nt *sspA* 5'-flanking segment *Bam*HI-(*sspA*-5P)-*Mlu*I, a 2.1kb *Pst*I-*BBT100B*



cgc*ggatcc*CGGTAAAGGATTTGTAAGGATTTCC-3') and sspA-5PR (5'-gcg*acgcgt*TTGCTGCTGGAGAACTCACAAGTG-3'), where the lower case residues in bold italics represent added BamHI and MluI restriction sites. Similarly, the 760 nt sspC-3P flanking segment was amplified with primers sspC-3PF (5'cccgaattcCAATTTCTCACCAGCTCG-3') sspC-3PR (5'and ggaagatctGTAGGTGAAGACCAAATCCCTCG-3'), incorporating respective EcoRI and BglII sites. After plasmid assembly in E. coli DH5 α , the resulting plasmid pMJ232 was transferred into S. aureus Newman via electroporation, using S. aureus RN4220 as an intermediate host. Construction of the $\Delta sspABC::tc$ deletion mutation was conducted following protocols established for use with pMAD (41). The $\Delta sspABC::tc$ deletion was confirmed by PCR with two primer pairs; one which flanks the external boundaries of the 2.6-kb deletion, and the second which anneals within the deleted segment, and yields a product only with wild type genomic DNA. The *AsspABC::tc* mutation was then transferred from strain Newman to USA300 using a phage ϕ 85 transducing lysate.

2.2.3 Molecular biology protocols

Protocols for plasmid construction in *E. coli* DH5 α and genetic manipulation of *S. aureus*, including isolation of plasmid and genomic DNA, electroporation, and phage transduction have been described previously (35,36),(42). Restriction enzymes and DNA ligase were purchased from New England BioLabs, and AmpliTaq Gold DNA polymerase was purchased from Life Technologies. DNA amplification was conducted using a PTC-100 Thermal Controller (MJ Research). The integrity of cloned PCR



products was confirmed by sequencing of plasmid constructs at the London Regional Genomics facility of the Robarts Research Institute.

2.2.4 TCA precipitation of proteins, SDS-PAGE, Western blotting and mass spectrometry

For SDS-PAGE analyses, proteins in the cell-free culture supernatant were precipitated by mixing with an equal volume of ice-cold 20% TCA, washed in ice cold 70% ethanol, then air dried and dissolved in SDS-PAGE reducing buffer as described previously (37). The culture density (OD₆₀₀) was determined prior to preparation of cellfree culture supernatant, and for analysis of secreted protein profiles, TCA precipitated protein derived from 2.0 OD₆₀₀ units of culture was applied to each lane of a 12% acrylamide gel. Identification of Coomassie-Blue stained proteins was conducted at the London Regional Proteomics Centre at Western University. Protein bands were excised using an EttanTM Spot Picker, and processed for mass spectrometry using a Waters MASSPrep Automated Digestor as described (43). Processed samples were spotted on MALDI plates and analyzed on an Applied Biosystems 4700 Proteomics Analyzer. Data were acquired and processed using 4000 Series Explorer and Data Explorer (Applied Biosystems), and the peptide fingerprints were compared to the NCBInr database for Gram-positive bacteria, using the MASCOT search engine.

For Western blotting, a volume of cell-free culture supernatant corresponding to 0.02 to 0.05 OD₆₀₀ units was mixed directly with SDS-PAGE reducing buffer, and applied to 12% polyacrylamide gels. Rabbit polyclonal antisera specific for SspA and Aur proteases was used as described previously (36,37), and rabbit polyclonal antiserum



specific for Hla was purchased from Sigma. Blots were developed with donkey antirabbit IgG IR800 conjugate (Rockland Immunochemicals Inc.), and images were captured using an Odyssey infrared imager from LiCor Biosciences.

2.2.5 Influence of fatty acids on growth of S. aureus

Sapienic acid (cis-6-Hexadecenoic acid; $16:1 \pm 010$) was purchased from Matreya LLC. Palmitic acid (hexadecanoic acid; 16:0), palmitoleic acid (cis-9-hexadecenoic acid; 16:1), stearic acid (octadecanoic acid; 18:0), oleic acid (cis-9-octadecenoic acid; 18:1), linoleic acid (cis, cis-9,12-octadecadienoic acid; 18:2), linolenic acid (cis,cis,cis-9,12,15-octadecatrienoic acid; 18:3) and glycerol monolaurate were all purchased from Sigma. Prior to supplementing TSB media, fatty acids were first mixed with an equal volume of DMSO, and then diluted in TSB to a working stock concentration of 5mM.

For growth analyses, bacteria from single colonies on TSB agar were inoculated into culture tubes containing 3mL of antibiotic free TSB, and grown overnight at 37°C on an orbital shaker, followed by measurement of OD_{600} . A 25mL volume of TSB, supplemented with fatty acid where indicated, was then inoculated to achieve a starting OD_{600} of 0.01, and the cultures were grown 37°C on an orbital shaker incubator, set at 180rpm. Measurements of OD_{600} were taken at hourly intervals, and at set time points, samples were withdrawn for recovery of cell-free culture supernatant. All growth analyses were conducted in triplicate, from three separate cultures.

2.2.6 Protease and β-galactosidase assays

Total protease activity in cell free culture supernatant was assayed with FITCcasein substrate (Sigma Type II). Prior to assay, the supernatant samples were normalized



by dilution with sterile water as needed, to adjust for minor differences in cell density of the stationary phase cultures at time of harvest. Triplicate aliquots of the normalized culture supernatant (490µL) were mixed with 460µL of incubation buffer (40mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 300mM NaCl, 20mM CaCl₂, and 2mM L-cysteine) and 50µL of 0.2% w/v FITC-casein. Blanks were prepared using 490µL of sterile culture supernatant. The samples were incubated at 37°C in the dark for 2h. Trichloroacetic acid was then added to 4% w/v to stop the reaction, and the samples were centrifuged at maximum speed for 15m to pellet undigested casein. The supernatant was then mixed with an equal volume of 0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.5, and after transfer to Optilux black clear bottom microtitre plates (BD Falcon), fluorescence was quantified on a Cary Eclipse Fluorometer using excitation at 485nm and emission at 535nm.

For β -galactosidase reporter assays, USA300*aur::lacZ* was cultured in TSB or TSB supplemented with palmitic or palmitoleic acid, and 1mL aliquots were withdrawn at 5, 6, 7 and 8h of growth. After washing in 1mL of ice cold PBS, the cells were resuspended in 1mL of PBS, and transferred to Lysing Matrix B tubes containing 0.5ml of 0.1mm silica beads (MP Biomedicals). The tubes were placed in a FastPrep120 homogenizer (Savant Biosystems) for 20s at a setting of 6.5. After centrifugation, a 20µl aliquot of each cell-lysate was added to triplicate wells of Optilux microtitre plates containing 50µM fluorescein-di- β -D-galactopyranoside (AnaSpec) in 150µL of 0.1M sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.3, 1mM MgCl₂, and 45mM β -mercaptoethanol. After incubation in the dark for 30 min, the assay was terminated by adding 50µL of 0.2M Na₂CO₃ to each well, and fluorescence was read using the Varian Cary Eclipse Fluorescence Spectrophotometer (Excitation/Emission = 490nm/520nm).



2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Influence of fatty acids on growth of S. aureus USA300

A recent study reported that the median concentrations of palmitoleic acid (C16:1) and linoleic acid (C18:2) were 48μ M and 16μ M respectively in human nasal secretions (30). Moreover, Kenny *et al.* reported that 10μ M linoleic acid (LA) was not growth inhibitory, whereas 100μ M LA inhibited growth of *S. aureus* strain MRSA 252 (44). We therefore chose this range of concentrations to assess the influence of LA and other saturated and unsaturated fatty acids on growth of USA300, a clinically important strain notorious for its ability to cause serious skin and soft tissue infections.

Growth of USA300 was not influenced by up to 200 μ M saturated stearic acid (C18:0; data not shown), or by 25 μ M linoleic acid (Fig. 2.1A). However there was a sharp boundary between sub-inhibitory and growth inhibitory concentrations of linoleic acid (LA), and a concentration of 50 μ M consistently promoted a 12h lag phase, followed by unimpeded exponential growth. When viable cell counts were measured, there was a slight loss of viability over the first 8h of incubation in TSB containing 50 μ M LA, after which the culture began to recover, with initiation of exponential growth at 12h (Fig. 2.1B). As reported by Kenny *et al.* (44), there was no growth at 100 μ M LA (data not shown), and this was also noted with linolenic, palmitoleic, and sapienic acid (Fig. 2.1D, E and F). The growth inhibition of sapienic acid closely resembled linoleic acid, with a 50 μ M concentration promoting an extended lag phase followed by unimpeded exponential growth (Fig. 2.1F). The only exception to growth inhibition by uFFA was oleic acid, which was not inhibitory up to 200 μ M, and this is consistent with data from



Parsons *et al.*, where *S. aureus* was cultured with 500μ M oleic acid, albeit with use of BSA as a carrier (45).

Saturated C16:0 palmitic acid was not inhibitory up to 200 μ M (Fig. 2.1G), confirming that antimicrobial activity is restricted to uFFA. A possible exception is lauric acid C12:0, which has been described as an antimicrobial component of human sebum (46). We therefore tested glycerol monolaurate as a source of C12:0, and found that growth was not affected by up to 100 μ M (data not shown), whereas 250 μ M permitted growth into late exponential phase, after which there was a rapid decline in cell viability (Fig. 2.1H). We conclude that unsaturated sapienic, palmitoleic and linoleic acid are the most effective inhibitors of *S. aureus* growth of the compounds studied, and the threshold between sub-inhibitory and growth inhibitory concentration occurs between 25 μ M and 50 μ M, which approximates the median concentrations of linoleic and palmitoleic acid in human nasal secretions.





Figure 2.1: Influence of fatty acids on growth of USA300. Each point represents the mean of OD₆₀₀ (A, C, D-G) or cfu/ml determination (B, H) from triplicate flasks of USA300 grown in TSB supplemented with the indicated amount of fatty acid; (\bigcirc), TSB only; (\triangle), 25µM; (\Box), 50µM; (\bullet), 100µM; (\diamond), 200µM; (\bullet), 250µM. Lauric acid (C12:0) was provided in the form of triacylglycerol-monolaurate. Y-axes, OD₆₀₀ or cfu/ml; X-axis, growth time (h). Error bars represent the Standard Error of the Mean.



2.3.2 Expression of secreted proteins is altered by uFFA

As a means to understand the response of S. aureus to the various FAs, we examined protein expression profiles. While no significant changes were readily detected in whole cell lysate (data not shown), we readily observed that the profile of secreted proteins produced by USA300 was profoundly altered after growth to stationary phase in the presence of unsaturated sapienic (C16:1 Δ 6), palmitoleic (C16:1 Δ 9), linoleic (C18:2), oleic (18:1), and linolenic (C18:3) fatty acids (Fig. 2.2), whereas 100µM saturated palmitic acid (C16:0) or stearic acid (C18:0) had no influence on growth or profile of secreted proteins compared to TSB alone (Fig. 2.2A and C). These changes were clearly evident even at 25µM concentrations of uFFA that did not alter growth kinetics. As determined by mass spectrometry analyses of selected proteins, the most significant change upon exposure to uFFA was the appearance of a new protein corresponding to the SspA serine protease, which is co-expressed with the SspB cysteine protease in the staphylococcal serine protease operon sspABC (38), and this was especially evident with the C16:1 fatty acids, and 50µM linolenic acid. This was typically accompanied by loss or diminished production of a 72kDa precursor isoform of glycerol ester hydrolase, together with accumulation of 40kDa mature Geh.

A Western blot confirmed that production of SspA was up-regulated by the C16:1 fatty acids, whereas saturated C16:0 had no effect, with SspA remaining in its slightly larger precursor isoform (Fig. 2.2B). Conversely, production of Hla was not influenced by either saturated or unsaturated fatty acids. From these data, we conclude that uFFA primarily influence the production of secreted proteases, concomitant with maturation of proGeh.





Figure 2.2 Influence of fatty acids on the protein production of *S. aureus*: SDS-PAGE of secreted proteins (A, C) and Western blot for detection of SspA and Hla (B), in culture supernatant of USA300 after growth for 18-24h in the presence of C16 (A) or C18 (C) fatty acids. Cultures were grown with the indicated amounts of C16:1 \triangle 6 (sapienic acid), C16:1 \triangle 9 (palmitoleic acid), C16:0 (palmitic acid), C18:2 (linoleic acid), C18:1 (oleic acid), C18:3 (linolenic acid) or C18:0 (stearic acid) fatty acids. Proteins in the cell-free culture supernatant were precipitated in ice-cold TCA, and after solubilization in SDS-PAGE reducing buffer, protein equivalent to 2.0 OD₆₀₀ units of culture supernatant were subjected directly to SDS-PAGE, prior to detection with specific antisera (see Materials and Methods).



2.3.3 The Staphylococcal proteolytic cascade (SPC) is induced by UFFa

The SPC is initiated by autocatalytic activation of the metalloprotease Aureolysin (36). However, we have observed that mature Aureolysin is unstable, and its secretion and maturation precedes the appearance of proSspA and proSspB in culture supernatant (36). We therefore cultured USA300 and isogenic *aur* or *sspABC* derivatives in TSB for 8h, to assess the influence of linoleic acid at an earlier time point (Fig. 2.3). In terms of the impact on secreted proteins, our data clearly establish that the primary effect of linoleic acid is to induce protease expression, as evident from the appearance of a new protein corresponding to Aur in USA300*sspABC*, and induction of SspA in USA300*aur*, while both proteins are produced in wild type USA300 (Fig. 2.3A). The only other obvious changes were alterations in the relative amounts of 72kDa proGeh in USA300 and USA300*aur*. This is consistent with a role for Aur in processing of proGeh, as reported for orthologous metalloprotease and lipase proteins in *S. hyicus* (47).

Enhanced production of secreted protease was confirmed by assay of total protease activity in culture supernatant (Fig. 2.3B), which was significantly increased when USA300 was cultured with 25μ M LA. Protease activity was also enhanced, although to a lesser extent, when USA300*sspABC* was cultured with 25μ M LA, and this activity was inhibited with EDTA, confirming that metalloprotease is induced by LA. No increase in activity was evident when USA300*sspABC-aur* was cultured with LA, even though *scpA* encoding the Staphopain A cysteine protease was not targeted for disruption. Therefore, it appears that the influence of uFFA is specific to *aur* and the *sspABC* genes that comprise the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade (SPC), but does not affect



Staphopain A (ScpA), which does not comprise part of the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade, because it undergoes autocatalytic activation independently of other protease functions (35).



Figure 2.3 Growth in fatty acids results in increased production of the proteases of the SPC: SDS-PAGE and Western blot analyses of secreted proteins produced by USA300 and isogenic variants after 8h of growth in TSB, or TSB supplemented with 25μ M linoleic acid (A), and assay of total protease activity in culture supernatant (B). For (A), protein loading was 2.0 OD₆₀₀ units for Coomassie staining, and 0.02 OD₆₀₀ units for Western blots, which were developed with primary antibody specific for Aur, and SspA as indicated. Arrows on the Coomassie stained gel indicate the selective induction of secreted proteases in response to linoleic acid. The arrow on the right margin indicates the position of proGeh. In (B), total protease activity in 8h culture supernatant of USA300 and isogenic variants was determined with FITC-casein substrate. Cultures were grown with 25μ M linoleic acid as indicated, and assay buffer was supplemented with 10mM EDTA where indicated, to inhibit metalloprotease. Data are reported as fluorescence emission at 535nm (ε_{535}), measured in arbitrary fluorescence units. Error bars represent the Standard Error of the Mean.



To confirm that these changes occur at the transcriptional level, we took advantage of the *aur::lacZ* fusion created by inactivation of *aur*, which places *lacZ* under transcriptional control of the *aur* promoter (48). We cultured USA300*aur* in either TSB, or TSB supplemented with 25µM palmitic (C16:0) or palmitoleic acid (C16:1), taking samples between 5 and 8h, which as shown in Fig. 2.1E and 2.1G, corresponds to the transition between exponential growth and post-exponential phase. Assay of β-galactosidase activity in the total cell lysates revealed a clear induction after 8h when USA300*aur* was cultured with 25µM palmitoleic acid (Fig. 2.4). This experiment was repeated with replicates of three cell lysates for each growth condition, and after 8h of growth, palmitoleic acid promoted significantly greater β-galactosidase activity compared to palmitic acid (p = 0.037) or TSB alone (p = 0.004), and there was no significant difference comparing growth in TSB alone versus TSB supplemented with palmitic acid (p = 0.090). Cumulatively, these data establish that uFFA induce expression of secreted proteases comprising the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade.





Figure 2.4 Expression of aureolysin is induced at the transcriptional level: β galactosidase reporter gene assay in cell lysate of USA300*aur* after growth for 5-8h in TSB, or TSB supplemented with 25µM palmitic (C16:0) or palmitoleic (C16:1) acid. Error bars represent the Standard Error of the mean. * p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *** p > 0.05, by Student's T test.



2.3.4 Induction of the Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade in response to uFFA is characteristic of *S. aureus* clinical isolates

To evaluate the response of other *S. aureus* strains to LA, we first tested another strain of CA-MRSA known as USA400, and a closely related strain of community acquired MSSA known as MSSA476, which are genetically distinct from USA300. These and other strains used for this analysis are defined in Table 2.1. After growth in TSB containing 25µM LA, the culture supernatants of USA300, USA400 and MSSA476 each exhibited accumulation of a protein corresponding to SspA (Fig. 2.5A) as confirmed by Western blot (Fig. 2.5B), together with a marked decrease in proGeh, concomitant with appearance of mature Geh (Fig. 2.5A). Production of SspA by USA300 and MSSA476 appeared to exceed that of USA400, and on several repetitions, USA300 always exhibited more robust production of SspA in response to LA, compared to USA400. Consequently, there are strain dependent differences in induction of the SPC in response to uFFA. We therefore tested additional strains to assess variation in SspA production in response to uFFA (Fig. 2.5C and D).

Once again, induction of SspA in USA400 was less robust compared to USA300, although the overall impact on the profile of secreted proteins was similar, as noted from the marked reduction in accumulation of proGeh concomitant with induction of SspA (Fig. 2.5C). Strain WBG10049, representing the Southwest Pacific Clone of CA-MRSA, also exhibited robust induction of SspA (Fig.2.5C and 2.5D) concomitant with disappearance of proGeh, but this characteristic response was not readily observed in MSSA strains Newman and UAMS-1, or in HA-MRSA strain MRSA 252, which have been used as model pathogens to address virulence and gene expression in *S. aureus*.



Although these latter strains did not respond to LA, expression of secreted virulence factors in Newman is affected by a unique polymorphism in the *saeRS* regulatory locus (49), while UAMS-1 and MRSA 252 belong to a distinct clade within clonal complex CC30 characterized by altered signaling of the accessory gene regulator *agr* (50,51,52). We therefore tested an additional panel of *S. aureus* isolates obtained from the skin of adult or pediatric atopic dermatitis patients, and strain L528, which is genetically related to UAMS-1, and derived from a patient with infective endocarditis (Table 2.1).

To varying degrees, with the exception of Newman, which was included as a nonresponsive control, each strain exhibited enhanced production of SspA when cultured in TSB supplemented with 25 μ M LA. In some of these, including SRI-109, PED1-75, PED2-1, and PED1-53, there was some production of SspA in TSB alone, which was slightly larger than the more abundant isoforms that were produced when cultured with 25 μ M LA. This likely reflects our finding that SspA is secreted as an inactive precursor proSspA, and then undergoes a stepwise maturation that requires processing of the Nterminal propeptide by Aureolysin. One of these strains, PED2-1, is a CA-MRSA that corresponds to clonal complex CC97, while the others are MSSA (Table 2.1). In consideration of these data, we conclude that variable induction of the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade pathway in response to uFFA is a characteristic trait of *S. aureus* clinical isolates, and that this response is particularly robust in the USA300 strain of CA-MRSA, which is known for causing aggressive skin and soft tissue infections.





Figure 2.5 Response of different strains of *S. aureus* **to linoleic acid:** SDS-PAGE and Coomassie staining (A and C), or Western blot for detection of SspA (B, D and E), in cultures of *S. aureus* grown in TSB containing 0 or 25 μ M linoleic acid (LA) as indicated. Protein loading was 2.0 OD₆₀₀ units for SDS-PAGE, and 0.02 OD₆₀₀ units for Western blot. The *S. aureus* strains are as defined in Table 2.1. Black arrows and labels on the right margins of panels A and C indicate the location of 72kDa glycerol ester hydrolase precursor (proGeh) and mature lipase (Geh). White arrows in Panels A and C point to SspA protein that is induced in response to 25 μ M LA. The SspA protein exhibits some expected variation in size, being comprised of 327 amino acids in USA400 (MW_0932), 336 amino acids in USA300 (SAUSA300_0951), and 357 amino acids in MRSA252 (SAR_1022) and other CC30 strains, due to variation in a C-terminal disordered segment comprised of tripeptide repeats. Different isomers produced by the same strain as shown on Western blot (2.5E), as explained in the text, are also attributed to varying degrees of processing of the N-terminal propeptide of the SspA precursor, proSspA.



2.4 DISCUSSION

Our previous work defined the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade, comprised of a metalloprotease Aureolysin, which undergoes rapid autocatalytic activation, and is then needed to activate the SspA serine protease, which in turn is required to activate the SspB cysteine protease that is co-expressed with SspA in the *sspABC* operon (34,35,36,37,38). Cumulatively, the activities of these proteases are consistent with multiple functions related to modulation of adhesion, colonization, tissue invasion and immune evasion, which include degradation of complement and antimicrobial peptides (53,54), processing of phenol soluble modulins (55), degradation of microbial adhesion proteins (48,56) and their tissue ligands (34,57), and processing of kininogen to promote enhanced vascular permeability (34,58). The major findings of our present study are that (i), the SPC is induced by antimicrobial unsaturated long chain fatty acids uFFA, in four different genetic backgrounds of CA-MRSA; (ii), amongst CA-MRSA there is variable induction of the SPC in response to uFFA, with USA300 consistently exhibiting a more robust induction of SspA relative to USA400; and (iii) this response was also manifested to varying degrees by clinical MSSA, including pediatric osteomyelitis (MSSA476), infective endocarditis (L528), and several strains recovered from the skin of adult and pediatric atopic dermatitis patients.

With respect to *S. aureus* persistence on skin, Sapienic acid (C16:1 Δ 6), which is an isomer of palmitoleic acid (C16:1 Δ 9), is the major fatty acid component of human sebum, and separate studies reported minimum inhibitory concentrations of 10-20µg/ml, and 30µg/ml respectively, for *S. aureus* (27,46). Another study reported the median concentration of palmitoleic acid in human nasal secretions as 12µg/ml (30), which



corresponds to 48μ M. Based on these considerations and our present data, it is apparent that physiologic concentrations of palmitoleic, sapienic and linoleic acid are sufficient to induce the SPC in *S. aureus*, and this is unique to unsaturated fatty acids. Although *S. aureus* does not have the capacity for β -oxidation of fatty acids, exogenous unsaturated fatty acids are transported across the cytoplasmic membrane through as yet unknown mechanisms, and then either directly incorporated into membrane phospholipid, or alternately, can be extended by the Type II fatty acid synthase machinery, prior to incorporation into phospholipid (45,59). Unsaturated fatty acids have reduced packing density in membranes, leading to increased membrane fluidity, and our data may reflect a mechanism for sensing changes in membrane fluidity.

It is unclear whether induction of the SPC by unsaturated fatty acids represents an innate immune function of the epithelial barrier to infection, or whether this promotes colonization and virulence. Several studies have implicated a role for secreted proteases of *S. aureus* in promoting biofilm dispersal (60,61,62), and it has been suggested that the biofilm mode of growth promotes nasal carriage of *S. aureus* (63). Specifically, an extracellular serine protease Esp of *S. epidermidis*, which is orthologous to SspA, promoted *S. aureus* biofilm dispersal *in vitro*, and eradicated *S. aureus* nasal carriage in human subjects when administered intranasally. Although it has been debated whether this was due to biofilm dispersal, or degradation of adhesion proteins and their epithelial ligands (64), it supports the contention that nasal carriage could be regulated through induction of the SPC by unsaturated fatty acid in nasal secretions. One study with a limited number of subjects, revealed a wide variance in the level of palmitoleic/sapienic acid in nasal secretions, ranging from 1.8 to $27\mu g/ml$ (30), which corresponds to 7.1 μ M



to 106μ M. Therefore, it is reasonable to speculate that individuals with higher sapienic acid content would not carry *S. aureus*, due to a combination of antimicrobial activity and induction of the SPC, which would promote biofilm dispersal and interfere with microbial adhesion.

Alternatively, induction of the SPC by uFFA could facilitate the initiation and maintenance of a stable carriage relationship. Importantly, the phenol soluble module (PSM) family of peptides produced by S. aureus exhibit antimicrobial activity towards Streptococcus pyogenes, which may comprise a mechanism of interference with competing colonizing pathogens, and the PSM α peptides appear to require proteolytic processing by Aureolysin to activate their antimicrobial properties (55,65). Moreover, individuals who are colonized by S. aureus also have elevated levels of host-derived antimicrobial α - and β -defensions in their nasal secretions (6). The antimicrobial peptide dermcidin, which is secreted from eccrine sweat glands, can induce expression of the SepA metalloprotease of S. epidermidis, and antimicrobial peptides also trigger protease production in S. aureus (66). In this situation, signaling is mediated through the antimicrobial peptide sensor aps (67,68), which also responds to glycopeptides (69,70), and triggers a global response that leads to modification of membrane lipids and cell wall teichoic acids, which cumulatively promote resistance to antimicrobial peptides. Therefore, induction of the SPC by uFFA could promote colonization, through degradation of host-derived antimicrobial peptides, concomitant with activation of the antimicrobial properties of PSM α 1 and PSM α 2, which function to eliminate competing pathogens.



In this context, the capacity for uFFA to induce production of secreted proteases appears to exceed that of other environmental signals, and to our knowledge this represents the only environmental stimulus identified thus far, that can lead to accumulation of SspA serine protease as one of the major secreted proteins. Transcriptional profiling studies have evaluated the transcriptome of USA400 CA-MRSA in response to neutrophil microbicides, including azurophile granule proteins, HOCl, and hydrogen peroxide, and although transcription of certain toxin genes, most notably encoding γ -hemolysin, was strongly induced by these signals, there was no major influence on transcription of sspA or *aur* (33), and similar observations were noted in assessing the transcriptome of USA300 in response to growth in blood (32). Therefore, our data allude to a novel signaling pathway that may selectively induce the SPC, which important role in modulating adhesion, colonization and invasion has an (34,38,48,53,56,57,71).

Induction of the SPC was particularly robust in the USA300 strain of CA-MRSA, and in WBG10049 representing the Southwest Pacific clone of CA-MRSA, both of which cause aggressive skin and soft tissue infections, whereas induction of SspA was evident, but consistently less robust in USA400. Intriguingly, USA400 appears to be associated with septicemia, and disruption of the *saeRS* regulator in USA400 strongly attenuated virulence in a bacteremia model, but had no significant influence on virulence in a subcutaneous abscess model (72). These observations support the contention that the expression and role of subsets of virulence factors is strongly influenced by the site of infection. In this respect, it is noteworthy that *S. aureus* Newman has been used to evaluate the genetic requirements for kidney abscess development (73,74), establishing



the importance of Coagulase and vonWillebrand Factor binding protein in promoting the formation of a fibrin pseudocapsule that impedes migration of neutrophils into the microbe dense core of the abscess (73). However we, and others, have defined a role for secreted proteases in degrading fibrin, and cell surface fibrinogen binding proteins (34,48,57), and abscess tissue has high levels of uFFA, of which the major bactericidal activity is attributed to linoleic acid (31). Therefore, we must consider that the ability of strain Newman to form large, well defined abscesses could be due in part to its failure to induce protease expression in response to uFFA, as we have demonstrated in this study.

MRSA 252, which is a successful epidemic strain of HA-MRSA (75), also failed to induce the SPC in response to linoleic acid. Strikingly, MRSA 252 was used to evaluate changes in the transcriptome in response to linoleic acid (44), but our data show that it is not representative of *S. aureus*, in terms of its response to uFFA. MRSA 252 belongs to a distinct clade within clonal complex CC30, characterized by accumulation of pseudogenes, and single nucleotide polymorphisms that attenuate virulence, and/or promote enhanced intrinsic resistance to antimicrobial agents (50,52,76). Conversely, WBG10049 is a hypervirulent CA-MRSA that belongs to a separate CC30 clade, and as with USA300, it exhibited robust induction of the SPC in response to linoleic acid.

In summary, we conclude that induction of the SPC in response to uFFA is another factor that should now be considered in addressing the aggressive nature of skin and soft tissue infection caused by some strains of CA-MRSA, and as a general virulence mechanism for most strains of *S. aureus*. Future work will focus on the mechanistic details of induction, including evaluation of the USA300 transcriptome in response to



linoleic acid, evaluation of protease null mutants in bacteremia and subcutaneous wound infection models, and the significance of lipase processing by proteolytic activity.


ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Jessica Sheldon for providing plasmid cured USA300 LAC.



www.manaraa.com

2.5 REFERENCES

- 1. Peacock SJ, de Silva I, Lowy FD (2001) What determines nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*? Trends Microbiol 9: 605-610.
- 2. Archer GL (1998) *Staphylococcus aureus*: a well-armed pathogen. Clin Infect Dis 26: 1179-1181.
- 3. Lowy FD (1998) Staphylococcus aureus infections. N Engl J Med 339: 520-532.
- 4. Mertz D, Frei R, Jaussi B, Tietz A, Stebler C, *et al.* (2007) Throat swabs are necessary to reliably detect carriers of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Clin Infect Dis 45: 475-477.
- 5. Clarke SR, Mohamed R, Bian L, Routh AF, Kokai-Kun JF, *et al.* (2007) The *Staphylococcus aureus* surface protein IsdA mediates resistance to innate defenses of human skin. Cell Host Microbe 1: 199-212.
- 6. Cole AM, Tahk S, Oren A, Yoshioka D, Kim YH, *et al.* (2001) Determinants of *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal carriage. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 8: 1064-1069.
- Fowler VG, Jr., Nelson CL, McIntyre LM, Kreiswirth BN, Monk A, *et al.* (2007) Potential associations between hematogenous complications and bacterial genotype in *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. J Infect Dis 196: 738-747.
- Holtfreter S, Nguyen TT, Wertheim H, Steil L, Kusch H, *et al.* (2009) Human immune proteome in experimental colonization with *Staphylococcus aureus*. Clin Vaccine Immunol 16: 1607-1614.
- Kuehnert MJ, Kruszon-Moran D, Hill HA, McQuillan G, McAllister SK, *et al.* (2006) Prevalence of *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal colonization in the United States, 2001-2002. J Infect Dis 193: 172-179.
- Pynnonen M, Stephenson RE, Schwartz K, Hernandez M, Boles BR (2011) Hemoglobin promotes *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal colonization. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002104.
- Roche FM, Meehan M, Foster TJ (2003) The *Staphylococcus aureus* surface protein SasG and its homologues promote bacterial adherence to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells. Microbiology 149: 2759-2767.
- 12. Sivaraman K, Venkataraman N, Tsai J, Dewell S, Cole AM (2008) Genome sequencing and analysis reveals possible determinants of *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal carriage. BMC Genomics 9: 433.



- 13. Enright MC, Robinson DA, Randle G, Feil EJ, Grundmann H, *et al.* (2002) The evolutionary history of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 7687-7692.
- 14. Hiramatsu K, Cui L, Kuroda M, Ito T (2001) The emergence and evolution of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Trends Microbiol 9: 486-493.
- 15. Oliveira DC, Tomasz A, de Lencastre H (2002) Secrets of success of a human pathogen: molecular evolution of pandemic clones of meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Lancet Infect Dis 2: 180-189.
- Robinson DA, Enright MC (2003) Evolutionary models of the emergence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 47: 3926-3934.
- 17. Deleo FR, Otto M, Kreiswirth BN, Chambers HF (2010) Community-associated meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Lancet 375: 1557-1568.
- 18. Otto M (2010) Basis of virulence in community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Annu Rev Microbiol 64: 143-162.
- 19. Moran GJ, Krishnadasan A, Gorwitz RJ, Fosheim GE, McDougal LK, *et al.* (2006) Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections among patients in the emergency department. N Engl J Med 355: 666-674.
- Elie-Turenne MC, Fernandes H, Mediavilla JR, Rosenthal M, Mathema B, *et al.* (2010) Prevalence and characteristics of *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization among healthcare professionals in an urban teaching hospital. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 31: 574-580.
- 21. Miller LG, Eells SJ, Taylor AR, David MZ, Ortiz N, *et al.* (2012) *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization among household contacts of patients with skin infections: Risk factors, strain discordance, and complex ecology. Clin Infect Dis. 54: 1523-1535
- 22. Joshi GS, Spontak JS, Klapper DG, Richardson AR (2011) Arginine catabolic mobile element encoded *speG* abrogates the unique hypersensitivity of *Staphylococcus aureus* to exogenous polyamines. Mol Microbiol 82: 9-20.
- 23. Diep BA, Gill SR, Chang RF, Phan TH, Chen JH, *et al.* (2006) Complete genome sequence of USA300, an epidemic clone of community-acquired meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Lancet 367: 731-739.
- 24. Diep BA, Stone GG, Basuino L, Graber CJ, Miller A, et al. (2008) The arginine catabolic mobile element and staphylococcal chromosomal cassette mec linkage:



convergence of virulence and resistance in the USA300 clone of methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Infect Dis 197: 1523-1530.

- 25. Montgomery CP, Boyle-Vavra S, Daum RS (2009) The arginine catabolic mobile element is not associated with enhanced virulence in experimental invasive disease caused by the community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 genetic background. Infect Immun 77: 2650-2656.
- 26. Miller SJ, Aly R, Shinefeld HR, Elias PM (1988) *In vitro* and *in vivo* antistaphylococcal activity of human stratum corneum lipids. Arch Dermatol 124: 209-215.
- 27. Wille JJ, Kydonieus A (2003) Palmitoleic acid isomer (C16:1delta6) in human skin sebum is effective against Gram-positive bacteria. Skin Pharmacol Appl Skin Physiol 16: 176-187.
- 28. Stefaniak AB, Harvey CJ (2006) Dissolution of materials in artificial skin surface film liquids. Toxicol In Vitro 20: 1265-1283.
- 29. Takigawa H, Nakagawa H, Kuzukawa M, Mori H, Imokawa G (2005) Deficient production of hexadecenoic acid in the skin is associated in part with the vulnerability of atopic dermatitis patients to colonization by *Staphylococcus aureus*. Dermatology 211: 240-248.
- 30. Do TQ, Moshkani S, Castillo P, Anunta S, Pogosyan A, *et al.* (2008) Lipids including cholesteryl linoleate and cholesteryl arachidonate contribute to the inherent antibacterial activity of human nasal fluid. J Immunol 181: 4177-4187.
- 31. Shryock TR, Kapral FA (1992) The production of bactericidal fatty acids from glycerides in staphylococcal abscesses. J Med Microbiol 36: 288-292.
- Malachowa N, Whitney AR, Kobayashi SD, Sturdevant DE, Kennedy AD, *et al.* (2011) Global changes in *Staphylococcus aureus* gene expression in human blood. PLoS One 6: e18617.
- Palazzolo-Ballance AM, Reniere ML, Braughton KR, Sturdevant DE, Otto M, et al. (2008) Neutrophil microbicides induce a pathogen survival response in communityassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Immunol 180: 500-509.
- 34. Massimi I, Park E, Rice K, Muller-Esterl W, Sauder D, *et al.* (2002) Identification of a novel maturation mechanism and restricted substrate specificity for the SspB cysteine protease of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Biol Chem 277: 41770-41777.
- 35. Nickerson N, Ip J, Passos DT, McGavin MJ (2010) Comparison of Staphopain A (ScpA) and B (SspB) precursor activation mechanisms reveals unique secretion



kinetics of proSspB (Staphopain B), and a different interaction with its cognate Staphostatin, SspC. Mol Microbiol 75: 161-177.

- 36. Nickerson NN, Joag V, McGavin MJ (2008) Rapid autocatalytic activation of the M4 metalloprotease aureolysin is controlled by a conserved N-terminal fungalysinthermolysin-propeptide domain. Mol Microbiol. 69: 1530-1543
- 37. Nickerson NN, Prasad L, Jacob L, Delbaere LT, McGavin MJ (2007) Activation of the SspA serine protease zymogen of *Staphylococcus aureus* proceeds through unique variations of a trypsinogen-like mechanism and is dependent on both autocatalytic and metalloprotease-specific processing. J Biol Chem 282: 34129-34138.
- 38. Rice K, Peralta R, Bast D, de Azavedo J, McGavin MJ (2001) Description of *Staphylococcus* serine protease (*ssp*) operon in *Staphylococcus aureus* and nonpolar inactivation of *sspA*-encoded serine protease. Infect Immun 69: 159-169.
- 39. Kennedy AD, Porcella SF, Martens C, Whitney AR, Braughton KR, et al. (2010) Complete nucleotide sequence analysis of plasmids in strains of *Staphylococcus* aureus clone USA300 reveals a high level of identity among isolates with closely related core genome sequences. J Clin Microbiol 48: 4504-4511.
- 40. Zielinska AK, Beenken KE, Joo HS, Mrak LN, Griffin LM, *et al.* (2011) Defining the strain-dependent impact of the Staphylococcal accessory regulator (*sarA*) on the alpha-toxin phenotype of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Bacteriol 193: 2948-2958.
- 41. Arnaud M, Chastanet A, Debarbouille M (2004) New vector for efficient allelic replacement in naturally nontransformable, low-GC-content, gram-positive bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 70: 6887-6891.
- 42. Novick RP (1991) Genetic systems in staphylococci. Methods Enzymol 204: 587-636.
- 43. Gyenis L, Duncan JS, Turowec JP, Bretner M, Litchfield DW (2011) Unbiased functional proteomics strategy for protein kinase inhibitor validation and identification of bona fide protein kinase substrates: application to identification of as a substrate for CK2. J Proteome Res 10: 4887-4901.
- 44. Kenny JG, Ward D, Josefsson E, Jonsson IM, Hinds J, *et al.* (2009) The *Staphylococcus aureus* response to unsaturated long chain free fatty acids: survival mechanisms and virulence implications. PLoS One 4: e4344.
- 45. Parsons JB, Frank MW, Subramanian C, Saenkham P, Rock CO (2011) Metabolic basis for the differential susceptibility of Gram-positive pathogens to fatty acid synthesis inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 15378-15383.



- 46. Drake DR, Brogden KA, Dawson DV, Wertz PW (2008) Thematic review series: skin lipids. Antimicrobial lipids at the skin surface. J Lipid Res 49: 4-11.
- 47. Ayora S, Lindgren PE, Gotz F (1994) Biochemical properties of a novel metalloprotease from *Staphylococcus hyicus subsp. hyicus* involved in extracellular lipase processing. J Bacteriol 176: 3218-3223.
- 48. McAleese FM, Walsh EJ, Sieprawska M, Potempa J, Foster TJ (2001) Loss of clumping factor B fibrinogen binding activity by *Staphylococcus aureus* involves cessation of transcription, shedding and cleavage by metalloprotease. J Biol Chem 276: 29969-29978.
- 49. Geiger T, Goerke C, Mainiero M, Kraus D, Wolz C (2008) The virulence regulator Sae of *Staphylococcus aureus*: promoter activities and response to phagocytosisrelated signals. J Bacteriol 190: 3419-3428.
- 50. DeLeo FR, Kennedy AD, Chen L, Bubeck Wardenburg J, Kobayashi SD, *et al.* (2011) Molecular differentiation of historic phage-type 80/81 and contemporary epidemic *Staphylococcus aureus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 18091-18096.
- 51. McAdam PR, Templeton KE, Edwards GF, Holden MT, Feil EJ, *et al.* (2012) Molecular tracing of the emergence, adaptation, and transmission of hospitalassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: 9107-9112.
- 52. McGavin MJ, Arsic B, Nickerson NN (2012) Evolutionary blueprint for host- and niche-adaptation in *Staphylococcus aureus* clonal complex CC30. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 2.
- 53. Laarman AJ, Ruyken M, Malone CL, van Strijp JA, Horswill AR, *et al.* (2011) *Staphylococcus aureus* metalloprotease aureolysin cleaves complement C3 to mediate immune evasion. J Immunol 186: 6445-6453.
- 54. Sieprawska-Lupa M, Mydel P, Krawczyk K, Wojcik K, Puklo M, *et al.* (2004) Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by *Staphylococcus aureus*derived proteinases. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 48: 4673-4679.
- 55. Gonzalez DJ, Okumura CY, Hollands A, Kersten R, Akong-Moore K, et al. (2012) Novel phenol-soluble modulin derivatives in community-associated methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* identified through imaging mass spectrometry. J Biol Chem 287: 13889-13898.



- 56. McGavin MJ, Zahradka C, Rice K, Scott JE (1997) Modification of the *Staphylococcus aureus* fibronectin binding phenotype by V8 protease. Infect Immun 65: 2621-2628.
- 57. Beaufort N, Wojciechowski P, Sommerhoff CP, Szmyd G, Dubin G, *et al.* (2008) The human fibrinolytic system is a target for the Staphylococcal metalloprotease aureolysin. Biochem J 410: 157-165.
- 58. Imamura T, Tanase S, Szmyd G, Kozik A, Travis J, *et al.* (2005) Induction of vascular leakage through release of bradykinin and a novel kinin by cysteine proteinases from *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Exp Med 201: 1669-1676.
- 59. Greenway DL, Dyke KG (1979) Mechanism of the inhibitory action of linoleic acid on the growth of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Gen Microbiol 115: 233-245.
- 60. Beenken KE, Mrak LN, Griffin LM, Zielinska AK, Shaw LN, *et al.* (2010) Epistatic relationships between *sarA* and *agr* in *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm formation. PLoS One 5: e10790.
- 61. Boles BR, Horswill AR (2008) Agr-mediated dispersal of *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms. PLoS Pathog 4: e1000052.
- 62. Kies S, Otto M, Vuong C, Gotz F (2001) Identification of the *sigB* operon in *Staphylococcus epidermidis*: construction and characterization of a *sigB* deletion mutant. Infect Immun 69: 7933-7936.
- 63. Iwase T, Uehara Y, Shinji H, Tajima A, Seo H, *et al.* (2010) *Staphylococcus epidermidis* Esp inhibits *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm formation and nasal colonization. Nature 465: 346-349.
- 64. Boles BR, Horswill AR (2011) Staphylococcal biofilm disassembly. Trends Microbiol 19: 449-455.
- 65. Joo HS, Cheung GY, Otto M (2011) Antimicrobial activity of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* is caused by phenol-soluble modulin derivatives. J Biol Chem 286: 8933-8940.
- 66. Lai Y, Villaruz AE, Li M, Cha DJ, Sturdevant DE, *et al.* (2007) The human anionic antimicrobial peptide dermcidin induces proteolytic defence mechanisms in Staphylococci. Mol Microbiol 63: 497-506.
- 67. Li M, Cha DJ, Lai Y, Villaruz AE, Sturdevant DE, *et al.* (2007) The antimicrobial peptide-sensing system aps of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Mol Microbiol 66: 1136-1147.



- 68. Li M, Lai Y, Villaruz AE, Cha DJ, Sturdevant DE, *et al.* (2007) Gram-positive threecomponent antimicrobial peptide-sensing system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 9469-9474.
- 69. Howden BP, Stinear TP, Allen DL, Johnson PD, Ward PB, *et al.* (2008) Genomic analysis reveals a point mutation in the two-component sensor gene *graS* that leads to intermediate vancomycin resistance in clinical *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 52: 3755-3762.
- Meehl M, Herbert S, Gotz F, Cheung A (2007) Interaction of the GraRS twocomponent system with the VraFG ABC transporter to support vancomycinintermediate resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51: 2679-2689.
- 71. Ohbayashi T, Irie A, Murakami Y, Nowak M, Potempa J, et al. (2011) Degradation of fibrinogen and collagen by staphopains, cysteine proteases released from *Staphylococcus aureus*. Microbiology 157: 786-792.
- 72. Voyich JM, Vuong C, DeWald M, Nygaard TK, Kocianova S, *et al.* (2009) The SaeR/S gene regulatory system is essential for innate immune evasion by *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Infect Dis 199: 1698-1706.
- 73. Cheng AG, DeDent AC, Schneewind O, Missiakas D (2011) A play in four acts: *Staphylococcus aureus* abscess formation. Trends Microbiol 19: 225-232.
- 74. Cheng AG, Kim HK, Burts ML, Krausz T, Schneewind O, et al. (2009) Genetic requirements for *Staphylococcus aureus* abscess formation and persistence in host tissues. FASEB J 23: 3393-3404.
- 75. Holden MT, Feil EJ, Lindsay JA, Peacock SJ, Day NP, *et al.* (2004) Complete genomes of two clinical *Staphylococcus aureus* strains: evidence for the rapid evolution of virulence and drug resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 9786-9791.
- 76. McAdam PR, Templeton KE, Edwards GF, Holden MT, Feil EJ, et al. (2012) Molecular tracing of the emergence, adaptation, and transmission of hospitalassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 109: 9107-9112
- 77. Burlak C, Hammer CH, Robinson MA, Whitney AR, McGavin MJ, et al. (2007) Global analysis of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* aureus exoproteins reveals molecules produced in vitro and during infection. Cell Microbiol 9: 1172-1190.



- 78. Miller LG, Perdreau-Remington F, Rieg G, Mehdi S, Perlroth J, et al. (2005) Necrotizing fasciitis caused by community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in Los Angeles. N Engl J Med 352: 1445-1453.
- 79. Baba T, Takeuchi F, Kuroda M, Yuzawa H, Aoki K, *et al.* (2002) Genome and virulence determinants of high virulence community-acquired MRSA. Lancet 359: 1819-1827.
- 80. Baba T, Bae T, Schneewind O, Takeuchi F, Hiramatsu K (2008) Genome sequence of *Staphylococcus aureus* strain Newman and comparative analysis of staphylococcal genomes: polymorphism and evolution of two major pathogenicity islands. J Bacteriol 190: 300-310.
- 81. Duthie ES, Lorenz LL (1952) Staphylococcal coagulase; mode of action and antigenicity. J Gen Microbiol 6: 95-107.
- 82. Robinson DA, Kearns AM, Holmes A, Morrison D, Grundmann H, *et al.* (2005) Reemergence of early pandemic *Staphylococcus aureus* as a community-acquired meticillin-resistant clone. Lancet 365: 1256-1258.
- 83. Moore PC, Lindsay JA (2002) Molecular characterisation of the dominant UK methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains, EMRSA-15 and EMRSA-16. J Med Microbiol 51: 516-521.
- 84. Gillaspy AF, Hickmon SG, Skinner RA, Thomas JR, Nelson CL, *et al.* (1995) Role of the accessory gene regulator (*agr*) in pathogenesis of staphylococcal osteomyelitis. Infect Immun 63: 3373-3380.
- 85. Yeung M, Balma-Mena A, Shear N, Simor A, Pope E, *et al.* (2011) Identification of major clonal complexes and toxin producing strains among *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with atopic dermatitis. Microbes Infect 13: 189-197.
- 86. Guerout-Fleury AM, Shazand K, Frandsen N, Stragier P (1995) Antibiotic-resistance cassettes for *Bacillus subtilis*. Gene 167: 335-336.



CHAPTER 3

Insights into the molecular events leading to the adaptation of *Staphylococcus aureus* to unsaturated fatty acids

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Staphylococcus aureus is a major human pathogen owing to its ubiquitous presence, antibiotic resistance, and its ability to infect virtually every tissue of the body



(1). Much research has gone into resolving the paradox that is inherent in the ability of *S*. *aureus* to exist both as a commensal, asymptomatically colonizing ~25% of the population (2), and an aggressive pathogen and a leading cause of infectious morbidity and mortality worldwide (3). Community acquired methicillin resistant *S. aureus* strain USA300, in particular, causes very aggressive skin and soft tissue infections (SSTI) and is the leading cause of visit to emergency departments in North America for the treatment of SSTIs (4-6).

Colonization provides opportunity for infection, illustrated in the finding that patients with nosocomial *S. aureus* infection are typically infected by the same strain they are colonized with (7). Therefore, it is important to elucidate how signals encountered during colonization contribute to the survival of bacteria or the shift from colonization to infection. Colonization normally occurs in the anterior nares, but *S. aureus* may also colonize the warm, moist areas of the skin such as the axillae and perineum. Fatty acids are potent antimicrobials that are present on both the skin, through sebum, and in nasal secretions (8, 9), and thus we reason that in order to colonize the skin and anterior nares, *S. aureus* must have means of resisting their antimicrobial effects. Based upon results garnered in chapter 2, we undertook to further understand the response and resistance mechanisms of *S. aureus* to unsaturated fatty acids, using linoleic acid as a model fatty acid, on the basis of it being a major antimicrobial component of human nasal secretions (10), and also accumulating to millimolar concentrations within an abscess (11-13).

Herein, we show that growth at subinhibitory concentrations of linoleic acid is associated with the processing of the secreted lipase Glycerol Ester Hydrolase (Geh) into its mature form, and that this processing is dependent on the metalloprotease aureolysin,



which is upregulated in response to linoleic acid. Although the inability to process lipase has no consequence on growth of USA300 in media containing linoleic acid, as determined from growth of an aureolysin- deficient mutant, we have isolated USA300 variants with reduced susceptibility to linoleic acid, and have identified common single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) among these strains that may indicate candidate genes involved in fatty acid resistance. The research in this section contributes towards resolving the paradox that is inherent in the ability of *S. aureus* to exist as both a pathogen that is a leading cause of invasive skin and soft tissue infections, as well as a commensal organism that colonizes humans asymptomatically.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Bacterial strains and growth conditions



Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are defined in Table 3.1. Cultures were maintained as frozen stocks (-80°C) in 20% glycerol, and streaked on TSB agar when required. TSB was supplemented, when necessary, with $10\mu g/mL$ erythromycin or $2\mu g/mL$ tetracycline for propagation of strains bearing resistance markers.

Table 3.1 S. aureus strains used in this study

Strain	Description	Source
RN4220	Restriction deficient lab strain	(14)
DU5969	RN4220 <i>aur::lacZ</i> ; transcriptional fusion of <i>lacZ</i> to <i>aur</i>	(15)
	promoter	
USA300 LAC	Hypervirulent pandemic CA-MRSA Los Angeles	(16)
	county clone; clonal complex 8	Barry Kreiswirth
USA300	USA300 LAC cured of antibiotic resistance plasmid	This study
USA300aur::lacZ	Transduction of <i>aur::lacZ</i> from DU5969 donor	This study
USA300sspABC	Replacement of <i>sspABC</i> operon in USA300 with Tc ^r	This study
	cassette, using pMJ232	
USA300aur	Transduction of <i>aur::lacZ</i> into USA300	This study
USA300sspABCaur	Transduction of <i>aur::lacZ</i> into USA300sspABC	This study
pMAD	Shuttle vector for the construction of	(17)
	mutations in Gram positive bacteria	
pDG1514	Source of Tc ^r cassette	
		(18)
pMJ232	pMAD containing Tc ^r cassette from	This study
	pDG1514, flanked by BamHI-[sspA-5P]-	
	MluI and EcoRI-[sspC-3P]-BglII	

3.2.2 Growth of *S. aureus* in fatty acids



Linoleic acid (cis, cis-9,12-octadecadienoic acid; 18:2), was purchased from Sigma. Prior to supplementing TSB media, fatty acids were first mixed with an equal volume of DMSO, and then diluted in TSB to a working stock concentration of 5 mM. For growth analyses, bacteria from single colonies on TSB agar were inoculated into culture tubes containing 3 mL of antibiotic free TSB, and grown overnight at 37°C on an orbital shaker, followed by measurement of OD_{600} . A 25mL volume of TSB, supplemented with fatty acid where indicated, was then inoculated to achieve a starting OD_{600} of 0.01, and the cultures were grown at 37°C in an orbital shaker incubator, set at 180 rpm. Measurements of OD_{600} and samples of cell free supernatant were taken at 18 hours of growth.

3.2.3 Linoleic acid adaptation and genome sequencing

USA300 (LAC, cured) was cultured into 3mL TSB and grown at 37°C overnight in an orbital incubator shaking at 250 rpm. OD_{600} was determined, and the bacteria were subcultured into 25mL TSB, or TSB supplemented with 50µM linoleic acid to a starting inoculum corresponding to an OD_{600} of 0.01 in a 125mL Erlenmeyer flask. The bacteria were then grown at 37°C in an orbital shaker at 180 rpm until stationary phase, where the OD_{600} was determined. The bacteria were then subcultured into 25mL of TSB or TSB containing 50µM linoleic acid, and grown to stationary phase. Cells were then plated on TSB agar, and single colonies were selected for preparation of stock cultures.

For genome sequencing, genomic DNA from stock cultures was isolated using an Invitrogen PureLinkTM genomic DNA preparation kit. Samples of genomic DNA were sent to the London Regional Genomics Center for genomic sequencing using Ion Torrent Next-Generation sequencing. Pure genomic DNA from each of the control and adapted



clones were sent to the sequencing facility, where unique bar codes (Ion Xpress Barcode Adapter kit) for each clone were incorporated into the DNA, and sequencing was performed on an Ion Torrent 318 chip. After sequencing, reads from the same bar codes were aligned to the reference genome of USA300 FPR3757. SNPs were identified using the CLC Genomics Workbench software.

3.2.4 TCA precipitation of proteins, SDS-PAGE, Western blotting and mass spectrometry:

For SDS-PAGE analyses, proteins in the cell-free culture supernatant were precipitated by mixing with an equal volume of ice-cold 20% TCA, washed in ice cold 70% ethanol, then air dried and dissolved in SDS-PAGE reducing buffer. The culture density (OD₆₀₀) was determined prior to preparation of cell-free culture supernatant, and for analysis of secreted protein profiles, TCA precipitated protein derived from 2.0 OD₆₀₀ units of culture was applied to each lane of a 12% acrylamide gel. Identification of Coomassie-Blue stained proteins was conducted at the London Regional Proteomics Centre at Western University. Protein bands were excised using an Ettan[™] Spot Picker, and processed for mass spectrometry using a Waters MASSPrep Automated Digestor. Processed samples were spotted on MALDI plates and analyzed on an Applied Biosystems 4700 Proteomics Analyzer. Data were acquired and processed using 4000 Series Explorer and Data Explorer (Applied Biosystems), and the peptide fingerprints were compared to the NCBInr database for Gram-positive bacteria, using the MASCOT search engine.

For Western blotting, a volume of cell-free culture supernatant corresponding to 0.02 OD_{600} units was mixed directly with SDS-PAGE reducing buffer, and applied to



10% polyacrylamide gels. Rabbit polyclonal antisera specific for SspA and Aur proteases was used, and rabbit polyclonal antiserum specific for Hla was purchased from Sigma. Blots were developed with donkey anti-rabbit IgG IR800 conjugate (Rockland Immunochemicals Inc.), and images were captured using an Odyssey infrared imager from LiCor Biosciences.

3.2.5 Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry sample preparation

1.0 mL of culture supernatant was collected for GC/MS analysis. The supernatants were acidified (pH < 2.0) with concentrated H₂SO₄. Fatty acids were then extracted three consecutive times with 750 μ L of hexane, and the hexane extracts were then pooled together and dried under a constant stream of nitrogen gas. Dried samples were trimethylsilylated with 25 μ L of pyridine and 25 μ L of N,O-bis(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide (BSFTA) + 1% Trimethylchlorosilane (TMS) (Sigma), and incubated at 70°C for 40 minutes.

3.3 **RESULTS**



3.3.1 Metalloprotease aureolysin processes the Glycerol Ester Hydrolase (Geh) in response to growth in linoleic acid

It has been suggested in the literature that lipases are proteolytically processed into their mature form (19). The response to linoleic acid includes the upregulation of three proteases, SspA, SspB and aureolysin, as well as the processing of proGeh, as discussed earlier. Using isogenic protease mutants for the three proteases, we determined that USA300*aur* is the only single protease mutant defective for Geh maturation, and that USA300*sspABC* retains the ability to process lipase in the presence of linoleic acid (Fig 3.1). We thus conclude that aureolysin is required for the processing of Geh. Arrows on the right of the SDS-PAGE gel indicate proteins identified by mass spectrometry. Both proSspB and mature Geh were detected in the same region (~40kDa) in the protein profile of wild-type USA300, and in the USA300*sspABC* mutant grown in the presence of 25μ M linoleic acid, only the mature Geh band protein was identified, while the mutant devoid of all SPC proteases does not produce a protein band in the region corresponding to proSspB or mature Geh, as expected.





Figure 3.1: Aureolysin is required for lipase processing

SDS-PAGE of TCA precipitated protein from 18 hour culture supernatants of USA300 (LAC, cured) and isogenic protease mutants grown in TSB (left) or TSB supplemented with 25µM linoleic acid. Arrows indicate proteins identified by mass spectrometry.



3.3.2 USA300 adapts to growth in linoleic acid

As noted in the previous chapter, USA300 undergoes a ~12 hour lag phase when grown in the presence of 50µM linoleic acid, which is followed by of the resumption of exponential growth at a rate equivalent to that of growth in TSB alone. This observation is suggestive of an adaptive response by the bacteria, or selection of a naturally resistant mutant pre-existent in the culture. To advance upon these findings, we took stationary phase cultures that had grown in the presence of 50μ M linoleic acid, and subcultured them back into 50µM linoleic acid again, and observed immediate induction of exponential growth, as opposed to a long lag phase (Fig 3.2 A, B). Importantly, these cells maintain their resistance to linoleic acid, even after passage through media lacking linoleic acid, and being frozen at -80°C. This alludes to a genetic adaptation, as opposed to an intrinsic response that is only manifested in the presence of linoleic acid. Despite permanent resistance to linoleic acid, the adapted cells did not exhibit any major changes in production of secreted virulence factors, and maintained their ability to induce protease expression in response to linoleic acid (Fig 3.2C), suggesting that adaptation to linoleic acid had likely not caused a mutation that is strongly influencing a major global regulator of virulence factors.





Figure 3.2: USA300 adapts to growth in linoleic acid. A) Growth of USA300 (LAC, cured) in TSB supplemented with 50µM linoleic acid, and subcultured into B) 50µM linoleic acid again. C) SDS-PAGE of the culture supernatants of wild type or cells passaged at the indicated concentration of linoleic acid, and then grown in TSB or TSB supplemented with 25µM linoleic acid again for 18 hours.



3.3.3 Linoleic acid adapted cells contain SNPs in common genes

Based on the phenotype of the linoleic acid adapted cells, we isolated genomic DNA from a single colony obtained from each of seven independently adapted cultures, along with two control cultures that had not been exposed to linoleic acid, and sent them to the London Regional Genomics facility at Robarts Research Institute for sequence determination on the Ion Torrent Next-Generation sequencing platform. Upon SNP analysis of the sequencing data, there were SNP mutations in all seven adapted cells that differed from the control cells, all resulting in amino acid substitutions. Importantly, five of the seven strains contained SNPs in two genes, highlighting these as candidates for linoleic acid resistance. Table 3.2 lists the SNPs identified in the seven adapted strains and the corresponding amino acid substitutions. With SNPs in three separate isolates, USA300_1179 is a ribonuclease gene, cvfA, which may be involved in mRNA degradation and subsequently may control post-transcriptional modification of gene expression. Interestingly, USA300 1126 is also a ribonuclease, *rnc*, which is involved in dsRNA degradation. US300_2490 is a member of the TetR family of transcriptional repressors, and two of the isolates contained SNPs causing the same amino acid substitutions.



Clone	Gene Number	Nucleotide Substitution	Amino Acid Substitution	Coverage/Frequency
1	USA300_1179	1298394 C>T	Leu ₂₆₉ Phe	65x/100%
2	USA300_1179	1298586 C>A	Gln ₃₃₃ Lys	14x/100%
3	USA300_1179	1298427 C>T	Pro ₂₈₀ Ser	24x/100%
4	USA300_2057	2220605 T>C	Glu ₁₆₀ Gly	31x/100%
5	USA300_1126	1232458 T>C	Ser ₂₀₇ Pro	14x/100%
6	USA300_2477	2676139 G>A	His ₈₂ Tyr	19x/100%
6	USA300_2490	2692995 C>T	His ₁₂₁ Tyr	31x/100%
7	USA300_2490	2692995 C>T	His ₁₂₁ Tyr	18x/100%

Table 3.2: Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in linoleic adapted strains of USA300



3.3.4 Fate of linoleic acid in culture media

To determine if a change in the concentration or composition of linoleic acid was coinciding with the end of lag phase growth in 50µM linoleic acid, the concentration of linoleic acid in culture media throughout the lag phase was assessed using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GCMS). From samples taken throughout the lag phase and in stationary phase, it was determined that linoleic acid concentrations remain high, up to the beginning of exponential phase growth, but no linoleic acid was detected in the stationary phase culture. This indicates that the initiation of exponential growth is not reliant upon a decrease in the linoleic acid concentration, and also that the linoleic acid is being removed from, or modified in the culture media during exponential phase growth (Fig 3.3).





USA300 + 50µM Linoleic Acid

Figure 3.3: Linoleic acid disappears from culture media during exponential phase growth of USA300. Growth curve of USA300 (LAC, cured) in TSB supplemented with 50µM linoleic acid. Red circles indicated time points at which samples for GCMS were taken. The legend below represents the presence (+) or absence (-) of linoleic acid in culture media.



3.4 DISCUSSION

In this chapter, we have demonstrated that aureolysin is responsible for processing proGeh into its mature form, that USA300 adapts to growth in the presence of inhibitory concentrations of linoleic acid, and that this adaptation appears to be facilitated by SNPs in a limited number of genes, which are predicted to cause amino acid substitutions in the encoded gene products. We have also determined that linoleic acid is being modified or removed from the culture medium during growth of bacteria. Together, these results add evidence to this research that is leading towards our ultimate goal of determining how S. *aureus* is able to grow in the presence of antimicrobial fatty acids, and determining the significance of the response of S. aureus to fatty acids. To that end, the observation that proGeh is activated by aureolysin upon linoleic acid stimulation is intriguing. Literature has suggested that proGeh and mature Geh do not significantly differ in their ability to hydrolyze lipids (20), but these conclusions were drawn from analysis of SDS-PAGE zymogram assays, in which the propeptide of an inactive precursor may be incorrectly positioned, and thus the enzyme may be active in this assay. Demonstration of this effect can be made with precursor SspB, wherein a zymogram assay the proenzyme appears to be active, but has much reduced activity in biochemical assays using proper buffers and pure protein (21). Despite this controversy, we are unable to report any difference in the lipolytic activity of whole supernatants lacking the aureolysin convertase, and thus lacking the active lipase. However, there are additional lipases in the USA300 genome that may be performing a compensatory function. Another possibility is that the activity of mature Geh differs from its proprotein in terms of the reaction it catalyzes. Enzymes in general have a tendency to be able to perform the reverse reaction, typically when placed



in an environment that is sub-optimal. Interestingly, the activity of Geh is optimal at a high pH, and has almost no lipase activity at the pH found on the skin (19, 20, 22). FAME, however, has a low optimal pH and almost no FAME activity at the pH optimal for a lipase (23). Since FAME and Geh perform the reverse reaction of one another, one must consider the possibility that Geh is performing its reverse reaction by esterifying fatty acids to cholesterol molecules in low pH environments.

In addition to the induction of expression of secreted proteases, concomittant with maturation of lipase precursor, we have also demonstrated adaptation at the chromosomal level in response to linoleic acid. Two fields of view exist with regards to evolution of this kind. The classical Darwinian evolution would suggest that there are naturally occurring mutations that exist within the population of bacteria, and only the cells with mutations conferring linoleic acid resistance will survive under this selective pressure. Under this view, we are selecting for naturally occurring variants that were present in the original inoculum, and the observed lag phase comprises the time required for these few bacteria to multiply and surpass the cell density of the starting inoculum. The other view is that the bacteria are able to alter their genome in response to linoleic acid, and that this alteration allows them to survive. In support of this theory, literature has demonstrated that the production of reactive oxygen species in response to antibiotic treatment causes random mutations in chromosomal DNA, and certain random mutations confer resistance to the antibiotic (24). Although we have no direct evidence of either theory, the genes targeted in the linoleic acid resistant mutants will provide clues to the mechanism of resistance to and antimicrobial mechanism of fatty acids. Six of eight SNPs were occurring in genes that may control transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation.



USA300_2490 is of the TetR family of transcriptional repressors, and thus a gain or loss of function in that gene as a result of a SNP would have downstream consequences on genes that are regulated by TetR. Likewise, if the ribonucleases CvfA and Rnc are involved in mRNA stability, a shift in the expression of genes could be occurring posttranscriptionally as a result of SNP induced alteration in the function of these ribonucleases. Although this theory is merely speculation at this juncture, further experiments will include a transcriptome analysis in response to linoleic acid to identify mRNAs that are being affected in response to linoleic acid.

Determination of linoleic acid concentration in culture media throughout growth is a necessary step in elucidating the Staphylococcal response to fatty acids, because it provides further knowledge into how the bacteria are physically coping with the lipid. The finding that linoleic acid concentration remains constant throughout the lag phase, up to the initiation of exponential growth is important, because it demonstrates that exponential growth is initiated in the presence of an inhibitory concentration of linoleic acid, further emphasizing our adaptation theory. It is also important because it shows that the lipid is not being spontaneously broken down in culture media. Literature has suggested that although *S. aureus* does not synthesize its own unsaturated fatty acids (25), it is capable of incorporating endogenous fatty acids into is phospholipid bilayer (26, 27). Therefore, next steps in this experiment will be to determine the fatty acid composition of the bacterial cell membrane during exponential growth in medium containing supplementary fatty acid, and to determine if the membrane composition is altered in cells that have adapted to growth at an inhibitory linoleic acid concentration.



3.5 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Foster TJ (2004) The Staphylococcus aureus "superbug". J Clin Invest 114: 1693-1696.
- 2. Peacock SJ, de Silva I & Lowy FD (2001) What determines nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*?. *Trends Microbiol* 9: 605-610.
- 3. Archer GL (1998) *Staphylococcus aureus*: A well-armed pathogen. *Clin Infect Dis* 26: 1179-1181.
- 4. Achiam CC, *et al* (2010) Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in skin and soft tissue infections presenting to the emergency department of a Canadian academic health care center. *Eur J Emerg Med*
- Gilbert M, et al (2007) Prevalence of USA300 colonization or infection and associated variables during an outbreak of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in a marginalized urban population. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 18: 357-362.
- 6. Moran GJ, et al (2006) Methicillin-resistant S. aureus infections among patients in the emergency department. N Engl J Med 355: 666-674.
- 7. Mertz D, et al (2007) Throat swabs are necessary to reliably detect carriers of *Staphylococcus aureus. Clin Infect Dis* 45: 475-477.
- 8. Miller SJ, Aly R, Shinefeld HR & Elias PM (1988) In vitro and in vivo anti-Staphylococcal activity of human stratum corneum lipids. *Arch Dermatol* 124: 209-215.
- 9. Wille JJ & Kydonieus A (2003) Palmitoleic acid isomer (C16:1 Δ 6) in human skin sebum is effective against Gram-positive bacteria. *Skin Pharmacol Appl Skin Physiol* 16: 176-187.
- 10. Do TQ, *et al* (2008) Lipids including cholesteryl linoleate and cholesteryl arachidonate contribute to the inherent antibacterial activity of human nasal fluid. *J Immunol* 181: 4177-4187.
- 11. Dye ES & Kapral FA (1981) Characterization of a bactericidal lipid developing within Staphylococcal abscesses. *Infect Immun* 32: 98-104.
- 12. Engler HD & Kapral FA (1992) The production of a bactericidal monoglyceride in Staphylococcal abscesses. *J Med Microbiol* 37: 238-244.
- 13. Shryock TR & Kapral FA (1992) The production of bactericidal fatty acids from glycerides in Staphylococcal abscesses. *J Med Microbiol* 36: 288-292.



- 14. Novick RP (1991) Genetic systems in staphylococci. *Methods Enzymol* 204: 587-636.
- 15. McAleese FM, Walsh EJ, Sieprawska M, Potempa J & Foster TJ (2001) Loss of clumping factor B fibrinogen binding activity by *Staphylococcus aureus* involves cessation of transcription, shedding and cleavage by metalloprotease. *J Biol Chem* 276: 29969-29978.
- 16. Burlak C, *et al* (2007) Global analysis of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* exoproteins reveals molecules produced in vitro and during infection. *Cell Microbiol* 9: 1172-1190.
- 17. Arnaud M, Chastanet A & Debarbouille M (2004) New vector for efficient allelic replacement in naturally nontransformable, low-GC-content, Gram-positive bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 70: 6887-6891.
- 18. Guerout-Fleury AM, Shazand K, Frandsen N & Stragier P (1995) Antibiotic-resistance cassettes for *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 167: 335-336.
- 19. Rosenstein R & Gotz F (2000) Staphylococcal lipases: Biochemical and molecular characterization. *Biochimie* 82: 1005-1014.
- 20. Gotz F, Verheij HM & Rosenstein R (1998) Staphylococcal lipases: Molecular characterisation, secretion, and processing. *Chem Phys Lipids* 93: 15-25.
- 21. Massimi I, *et al* (2002) Identification of a novel maturation mechanism and restricted substrate specificity for the SspB cysteine protease of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Biol Chem* 277: 41770-41777.
- 22. Vadehra DV & Harmon LG (1967) Characterization of purified Staphylococcal lipase. *Appl Microbiol* 15: 480-483.
- 23. Mortensen JE, Shryock TR & Kapral FA (1992) Modification of bactericidal fatty acids by an enzyme of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Med Microbiol* 36: 293-298.
- 24. Kohanski MA, DePristo MA & Collins JJ (2010) Sublethal antibiotic treatment leads to multidrug resistance via radical-induced mutagenesis. *Mol Cell* 37: 311-320.
- 25. Singh VK, *et al* (2008) Insertional inactivation of branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase in *Staphylococcus aureus* leads to decreased branched-chain membrane fatty acid content and increased susceptibility to certain stresses. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74: 5882-5890.
- 26. Balemans W, *et al* (2010) Essentiality of FASII pathway for *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Nature* 463: E3; discussion E4.





87

CHAPTER 4 - GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The main findings of this research on the *Staphylococcus aureus* response to antimicrobial fatty acids can be roughly divided into two main observations; i) The upregulation of the staphylococcal proteolytic cascade upon exposure to unsaturated fatty acids, and ii) Adaptation to linoleic acid. Based on the data in chapters 2 and 3, these two observations are seemingly independent of each other; meaning that even non-adapted strains display increased protease expression upon exposure to subinhibitory concentrations of fatty acid, and regardless of whether the strain has adapted to growth in linoleic acid or not, presence of the fatty acid in culture media is still essential to induce increased expression of the SPC. In addition, we report that the upregulation of the SPC, specifically aureolysin, results in proteolytic processing of the glycerol ester hydrolase into its mature form, and that this response is characteristic of hypervirulent community acquired strains, and not present in some strains that are commonly used to study Staphylococcal pathogenesis.

Induction of the SPC and processing of proGeh may be regarded as a dynamic adaptive response to fatty acids, as it only occurs in the presence of fatty acids, and the expression of proteases returns to normal upon growth in media without fatty acid. GCMS data from chapter 3 are also indicative of an adaptive response because it suggests that the bacteria are removing fatty acid from the media by an as of yet unknown mechanism. Together, we can conclude that USA300 responds to fatty acids by increasing the expression of the SPC, maturation of Geh and removal of fatty acids from



culture media. As opposed to this dynamic adaptive response, it is unlikely that the SNPs discovered after growth in fatty acids represent an adaptive response to fatty acids. If this were the case, one would expect that these SNPs would be found in nature, occurring in bacteria isolated from areas of high fatty acid concentration such as the anterior nares, and an abscess. Rather, these SNPs that allow growth in high concentrations of fatty acids were likely selected for, and may enlighten us further about the mechanism of antimicrobial activity of the fatty acid, and how the bacteria respond to the fatty acid. More experiments will have to be conducted on these SNPs in order to speculate on the mechanism of resistance in these adapted strains. Specifically, to determine whether SNPs are causing loss- or gain-of-function mutations in each gene, SNP containing genes will be cloned into wild type USA300, and in turn, wild type genes will be cloned into mutated USA300 strains. In each case, resistance to fatty acids will be determined. More adaptation experiments will also be done to determine the frequency, and thus importance, of each SNP in conferring resistance to fatty acids.

An important avenue to pursue will also be the fate of linoleic acid in culture media. In addition to the knowledge that fatty acids are removed from the media, determining the mechanism of this removal, and destination of the fatty acid beyond that point will be illuminating. As stated in chapter 3, we expect to observe that the fatty acids are being incorporated into the phospholipid bilayer of the bacteria, and determination of the bacterial membrane lipid composition during growth in fatty acids will be done using GCMS.

Finally, it will be informative to determine the consequence of the processing of proGeh discussed in both chapters 2 and 3. We have no evidence at this point as to



whether or not processing is necessary to confer or alter activity of the lipase, and thus the next step will be to purify both the precursor and mature forms. Further, one wonders whether this maturation confers increased resistance to fatty acids, or more likely, increased survival in areas of a more complex lipid composition such as sebum, and within an abscess. Survival assays using wild type USA300, and proGeh maturation deficient USA300*aur* in full human sebum, or in skin colonization models, would help to further elucidate the significance of this marked response to fatty acids.

The work presented here consists mainly of descriptive data demonstrating the response of community acquired methicillin resistant *S. aureus* to long chain fatty acids. Because the data presented represents novel observations and branches in several different directions, this work provides a strong base for future research in each avenue, which will consist of elucidating the mechanism behind, and consequence of, each of the responses presented here. The impact of CA-MRSA currently as a pathogen, as well as the threat it presents as an emerging pathogen is incontrovertible, and therein lies the significance of this research.



APPENDIX

Structures of fatty acids



Linoleic acid (C18:2)



Oleic acid (C18:1)



Linolenic acid (C18:3)

Stearic acid (C18:0)





Sapienic acid (C16:1∆6)



Palmitoleic acid (C16:1∆9)



Palmitic acid (C18:0)



Glycerol monolaurate



1-Linoleoyl glycerol



VITA

Benjamin Arsic

Education

2010 - 2012		
	•	M.Sc. Candidate Microbiology and Immunology
		University of Western Ontario
2006 - 2010		
	•	University of Western Ontario
		BMSc 2010
		Biochemistry of Infection and Immunity 3-year placement on Dean's Honor List

Related Work Experience

May - August 2010

• Research Assistant University of Western Ontario Dr. Martin McGavin

Publications and Presentations

2012

Arsic B, Zhu Y, Heinrichs DH, McGavin MJ (2012) Induction of the Staphylococcal Proteolytic Cascade by unsaturated fatty acids in community-acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. PLoS ONE

McGavin M, Arsic B & Nickerson N (2012) Evolutionary blueprint for host- and nicheadaptation in *Staphylococcus aureus* clonal complex CC30. *Front Cell Inf Microbio* 2: 48.

2011

Poster presentation at the Infection and Immunity Research Forum at the University of Western Ontario.

Title: *Staphylococcus aureus* response to antimicrobial fatty acids Arsic, B. Zhu, Y. Heinrichs, DE. McGavin, MJ.

